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Monday, October 20, 2008

--- On commencing at 10:06 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

The Board is sitting this morning in Aylmer in connection with an application filed by Union Gas Limited on August 1st, as subsequently amended on August 9th and August 15th, pursuant to section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.

Union supplies gas to NRG pursuant to an M9 delivery contract first made in October of 2006, and, with respect to that contract, Union is asking NRG to provide certain financial assurances, and, if those assurances are not provided on a basis that Union regards as satisfactory, Union has advised the Board that they intend to seek approval of the Board, pursuant to section 42, to discontinue service to NRG.

May we have the appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Michael Penny.  I appear for the applicant, Union Gas.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny.

MR. KING:  Richard King here as counsel for Natural Resource Gas.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. King.

MR. THACKER:  Lawrence Thacker, co-counsel for Natural Resource Gas.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thacker.  Anyone else?

MR. TUNLEY:  Phil Tunley, Mr. Chair.  I am counsel for the Town of Aylmer, intervenor in this proceeding.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Tunley.

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Dennis O'Leary, counsel for IGPC, and I am joined by my colleague, Scott Stoll.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel the Board Staff.  With me are Bill Cowan and Mr. Neil McKay.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny.

MR. PENNY:  We have witnesses available to start right away, and I do have a brief opening, but, as I understand it, there are some preliminary matters.  Maybe Mr. Millar is best able to address those.
Preliminary Matters:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, there are at least two matters, Mr. Chair.  The first is I had spoken with Mr. Penny regarding the Moody's RiskCalc analysis that had been performed on NRG, and I think it is fair to say he had agreed to provide them, but they are proprietary software and he requires a formal order of the Board to do that, and correct me if I am misstating anything.

So I would ask -- I believe it is on consent that you do order that RiskCalc analysis that Union did be produced.

MR. KAISER:  So ordered.  Is that satisfactory?

MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  The issue is, as Mr. Millar indicated, that there is a proprietary aspect to the software.  Union is under a confidentiality agreement with respect to that.  It is not clear to me whether the -- whether the summary of the output from that model is or isn't subject to that confidentiality, but there is a regulatory exception, in any event.  To protect us, we would just prefer -- we are prepared to produce it, but we would prefer to produce it pursuant to direction from the Board.

MR. KAISER:  Do you require a written order?

MR. PENNY:  No.  It is sufficient if we have that from you today.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  We will order production of the risk calculation as described by Mr. Millar.

MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I believe the second preliminary matter relates to the evidence from the Town of Aylmer and IGPC, so perhaps I will hand it over to him -- or Mr. Thacker, sorry.
Submissions by Mr. Thacker:


MR. THACKER:  I am going to deal with this issue.  You should have in front of you a letter from Mr. King dated October 18 that sets out this issue.

In short, we are asking for an order that the evidence of IGPC and the evidence of the town be struck out on the basis that it is entirely collateral to the issues to be decided today.

There may be another forum to raise these allegations, but this application brought by Union is not the correct forum.  The starting point for the submission is the issues list generated from the Issues Day that took place on October 15.

Now, I gather IGPC and the town were there.  But there was -- so they had an opportunity, having been present at Issues Day, to advance the issues they say are relevant, and when you look down the issues list, my submission is they have absolutely nothing to do with the evidence that the town has filed today or the evidence that IGPC has filed.

As a result of the filing of evidence on Wednesday, and then Friday afternoon, by IGPC, NRG was forced to engage counsel and work all weekend to prepare responding evidence, which was delivered yesterday afternoon, and I believe -- I hope you have a copy of that.  It is the prefiled evidence of Natural Resource Gas Limited.  

Now, obviously NRG would have dealt with the financial issues that are on the list, but the scope of the responding evidence was dramatically increased because of the position taken by the town and IGPC and the evidence that they filed.

Just briefly with respect to the town's evidence, taken at face value, Ms. Adams says in her evidence that the town has no knowledge of and takes no position of the issues between Union and NRG with respect to the contracts in issue.

So even if you accept the evidence on its face, it is admittedly irrelevant.

What the town's evidence does reveal is that they are using this process to lobby, in essence, the OEB, and as part of a public relations and communications strategy, and that is made clear by a resolution of the town council on October 14.  That is in their evidence.

They have essentially approved, as a matter of policy, a strategy of intervening at OEB hearings to raise issues.  And there may be OEB hearings where those issues should be raised, but this isn't the one.  This hearing deals with a question of interpretation of an agreement, an M9 agreement, as I understand it, between Union and NRG, and it has nothing to do with the town's concerns.

So what the town has on their own evidence adopted is a strategy of raising concerns about NRG, and there is really three issues, the security deposit, what they say is problems with the relationship between NRG and IGPC, and, thirdly, the level of distribution rates.

They intend to raise those issues every time there is an OEB hearing that has anything to do with NRG, and that is improper.  It is an abuse of process, in my submission, and you should not tolerate it.  You should not condone it.  

This process only deals with the issues list, the issues on the issues list, and the town's evidence speaks to none of those issues, in my submission.

With respect to the IGPC evidence, again, taken at its face - and I am quoting now - IGPC confirms that, quote:

"Union will no longer be seeking an order under subsection 42(1) of the Act." 

In other words, there is no longer any chance of discontinuance of service; off the table.  That is clear on the issues list.

IGPC goes on to say in their evidence there is no prospect of Union discontinuing service to NRG.  So my submission is, based on its own evidence, again, IGPC has no interest in the proceeding and has no standing to introduce this evidence.

I recognize they have been granted intervenor status and that decision has not been appealed, and I don't take issue with the fact that they may have status, but that does not mean they get to introduce evidence that is utterly irrelevant.

So -- and IGPC makes it clear that their interests won't be affected by the relief sought, even if it is granted in favour of Union.

They also confirm that the allegations made by Union concerning the financial integrity or creditworthiness of NRG have absolutely nothing to do with the pipeline, and that is true.  As you will recall, the entire principle behind the funding of the pipeline and the myriad arrangement of agreements was it would not increase NRG's risk profile or impair its financial position in any way, and that is the case, with one exception.  IGPC hasn't yet given us our security deposit.

There is a series of responses that have been prepared by NRG, and there are 40 pages of evidence, but my submission is none of that should be necessary here, because none of the town's evidence nor IGPC's evidence should be admitted.

If it is admitted, NRG will respond, will call witnesses and will cross-examine the town and IGPC on the evidence that they filed, but our position is that you should disregard that evidence and this hearing should proceed on the only issue before you, properly, which is the financial situation of NRG and the allegations raised by Union.

With respect to IGPC and NRG, you will recall on February 28th there was a hearing here in Aylmer.  During that hearing, there was an agreement reached of schedule.  There were concerns that NRG would not complete the pipeline on time.  As a result of that hearing, there was an agreed schedule entered into.

NRG completed the pipeline on July 3, two weeks before the agreed in-service date of July 15.  So NRG's half of the work was done on July 3.

As agreed, the parties began paying on July 15.  IGPC still hasn't completed their work.  Their facility is not fully commissioned.  Their custody -– permanent custody station is not installed and they're not in a position to accept gas in the quantities that they will eventually need.  So they have delayed the construction of their own facility.

None of that is in issue here, but if we have to get into that story there is a long history.

So my submission is that you should disregard the evidence of IGPC and NRG -- and the town, if you do that this hearing will proceed only on the issues set out in the issues list and I will have no reason to cross-examine those witnesses.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Tunley.
Submissions by Mr. Penny:

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, you might hear from me, in fairness to Mr. Tunley and to Mr. O'Leary, you may hear from me on this first because while we take no formal position on the motion as such, our position tends to favour the position that was just articulated by Mr. Thacker.


Union, Mr. Chairman, recognizes the legitimate interest of NRG's customers to participate in this proceeding and therefore we take no issue with their intervention or participation.  And however while we were not going to object to the evidence of the town or IGPC on our own, we did think, frankly, it was directed at issues that are not before the Board in this application.

Union does not want to be drawn into a dispute between NRG and its customers about historic relationships, or for that matter even about who pays any rate consequences of the relief that Union is seeking in this case.

Therefore, Union does not believe the evidence from the town or IGPC would be of assistance to the Board in deciding this application.  There are issues, it seems to me, and it seems to Union, are for another day in a different forum.

Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Tunley.
Submissions by Mr. Tunley:


MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I want to deal with both of the substantive points raised by Mr. Thacker, namely his position that the evidence is collateral to the issues before the Board and that it doesn't speak to any of the issues on the issues list.  I will say to you that it does.



But let me just, as an introductory matter, indicate in responding to the evidence of the town, there's a sense that NRG views our intervention as somehow on behalf of a corporation of the Town of Aylmer.  This is not about the town as a corporation.  This is intervention -- we would love to be not involved in these issues.  We would love not to be here.

The issues that we seek to raise are raised because they are concerns of the constituents of Aylmer and the customers and ratepayers of NRG.

Those issues have arisen in the last two years.  So since 2006, one of the factors that the Board will realize is that Union's request for security has arisen in the years since 2006, its events and occurrences since that date which have given rise to Union's concern.

I can tell you in the evidence, it will be clear the town's concerns and the concerns of ratepayers have arisen in that same time frame.

So I just want, as a preliminary matter, for you to understand that we're actually here for the same reasons, in the same context and with the same concerns that Union is raising.

Let me take that and deal with the issue of relevance.  Mr. Thacker says the evidence before you put forward by the town is entirely collateral.

In my submission, the financial viability of NRG is a central issue in this hearing, that's engaged by Union's application and to which NRG has to respond.  And that's an overarching issue today.

And it affects directly the issues that were already emerging as issues of concern for constituents and ratepayers in the Town of Aylmer.

It potentially affects rates for gas in this area.  And let me take you to the issues list which Mr. Thacker says none of this is relevant.  Issue no. 6 on the issues list before you speaks to the issue of impact on rates.

So depending on how you decide what you decide today, there may or may not be an argument about whether that result should be visited on the ratepayers.  And clearly, the evidence that we've put forward about that issue should be before the Board and should be considered by the Board.

It is also, though, relevant to the security deposit issue that is raised in the town's evidence.  We raised the issue of whether NRG has an adequate policy to protect customer deposits, whether it is collecting those in an appropriate fashion, whether the amounts are reasonable and so on.

If Union is correct that there is an issue of financial viability of NRG, then those customer deposits as they're currently administered are as at risk as are Union's gas supply variances.

If NRG is going to say to this Board in this hearing that it should not be required to post security to address Union's concerns, that's going to raise an issue about, well, why is it requiring its customers to post security deposits in levels that were not giving rise to concerns two years ago?

So clearly these linkages are there.  And my submission is, at least at this very preliminary stage of the hearing, it would be premature to rule those issues out.  And I want to develop that in a moment.

But a fundamental point is that we're here because this hearing raises an issue which is part of a bigger picture, and at a very minimum the purpose of the town's evidence was to ensure that this Board, in dealing with Union's application, had before it a proper and full picture.

Now, I want to address what you have been asked.  You have been asked to, in effect, give a pre-emptive strike, to strike all of this evidence out.  Not to hear any of it.  To have it removed from the record.  In my submission, first, that is premature.  But secondly, even if you are concerned that you don't want to resolve the disputes that clearly do exist between NRG and its constituencies, whether it IGPC or the town and its customers, in this hearing, you should, in my submission, at least be aware that those disputes exist.  They are part of the relevant background.

So in my submission, first of all, you shouldn't be striking this evidence out.  You may decide that you simply want to leave the record as it is and you want to direct counsel and the parties that, now that we have your position from the town, from IGPC and we have the response, that's all we need.  We don't need to get into the details beyond knowing what the scope of the dispute is, but at least the scope of those disputes and those issues should remain before you as part of the record of this proceeding.

So that's what I would suggest as a second middle ground option.  First of all, you shouldn't address this as a preliminary matter, but second of all, as the hearing unfolds and as we see where the evidence is taking the proceedings and the parties and whether issue no. 6 is going to arise or not in these proceedings -- and it may not, obviously, if Union's application fails.  But let's -- even if we get to the point where it is proper to consider the scope of the evidence from the intervenor parties, in my submission, one option the Board should consider is simply leaving it on the record as, in effect, defining disputes, and I am aware and the Board will be aware there may be other proceedings in which those disputes will ultimately get resolved or at least advanced by the Board and this Board may decide in this proceeding to defer them to those other processes.  But they're not irrelevant.

My submission, fundamental -- all of my submissions, these issues are not irrelevant to the matters you have to decide today.

Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary.
Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

As you know, and as Mr. Thacker admitted, IGPC is an intervenor.  It is an intervenor because it is a ratepayer, perhaps the most significant ratepayer in NRG's franchise area.

It has the right in this proceeding, therefore, to bring forward evidence that it - not what NRG - believes is relevant for the purposes of the position it is taking in this proceeding.  And that is precisely what it has done.

The issues that are on the issues list, sir, clearly deal with the creditworthiness of NRG.  The evidence filed by IGPC speaks specifically to that from the perspective of IGPC.

Did the pipeline, which has been recently completed -- and I am going to speak to a few of the factual inaccuracies that Mr. Thacker alleged a few minutes ago in a minute, but did the construction of that pipeline -- does its operation now and the supply of gas somehow negatively affect the financial integrity and creditworthiness of NRG?

That's what the evidence speaks to.  That is one of the issues on the issues list.

The IGPC evidence also goes into the rate impacts, which is clearly an issue.  It is set out at issue no. 6.  IGPC's position is that there should be no rate impact to IGPC.  The evidence is there in detail to give the Board the reasons to come to the conclusion, in responding to issue no. 6, that IGPC should not be affected by any cost consequence or rate implication from any order you make in this proceeding.

Sir, if I could turn you just briefly to the prefiled evidence that has been filed by NRG, if we look at page 20 -- 19 and 20, there has been an attempt --

MR. KAISER:  Give us a second to find that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Certainly.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. O'LEARY:  There is an attempt at those pages to indicate what the rate implications are.

The rate 3 implications are set out on page 20.  Clearly, NRG sees that as an issue in this proceeding.  They're responding to that issue.  But the evidence that IGPC has filed is intended to support a finding by this Board that none of those rate implications should be imposed on IGPC.  

But there are concerns that we have, and the reason why our evidence is relevant is questions such as this:  Is the $1,100 for a rate 3 customer intended to apply to IGPC?  Was that calculated on a volumetric basis, which means that is it really only going to be $1,100, or could it be significantly more?

When you understand that IGPC makes up for about 50 percent of the volumes that NRG will be delivering, does that mean that it will be $1,100 or will it be 50 percent of all of the costs?

Is Mr. Thacker saying here today that NRG agrees that none of those rate impacts or cost implications will be imposed on IGPC?  It is clearly relevant.

I turn over to the next page, sir.  At paragraph 81, NRG states:   
"IGPC has also confirmed that any allegations made by Union concerning the financial integrity or creditworthiness of NRG have no relationship to the construction and operation of the 28.5 kilometre 6-inch diameter natural gas pipeline and ancillary facilities constructed by NRG to provide service to IGPC."

Clearly they're addressing one of the issues here, their creditworthiness.  Our position is the pipeline did not impact the creditworthiness.  That supports the position taken by NRG in this proceeding.

It is clearly relevant, but if I understand what Mr. Thacker is saying, because certainly we don't have any desire to lengthen the proceeding today, but if I understand what Mr. Thacker is saying - and I believe I can quote what I have in my notes here - is that NRG agrees that the pipeline did not raise the risk profile of NRG.

So if Mr. Thacker is now saying on behalf of NRG that they will not, in any way, allocate or suggest that IGPC should be responsible for any of the cost consequences of a decision in this proceeding, then perhaps we don't need to remain.  But what has been filed, sir, is relevant.  It should remain on the record, because it supports such a finding and it supports what Mr. Thacker has just said and should therefore not be struck.

Now, Mr. Thacker is here and he has filed on behalf of his client numerous pages which regurgitate the February 28th motion.  We did not come here to go over what proceeded at that motion.  We did not appear here today to in any way raise those issues once again.  They have been dealt with by the Board to our satisfaction.

We are here to simply put forward the evidence that supports the finding that has been requested.

There were several factual inaccuracies that Mr. Thacker raised, which I am compelled to deal with.  First of all, the gas is flowing.  The plant is operating at 100 percent for the next short while, during this trial period, to confirm performance.

It has been receiving gas since August.  In August, IGPC provided the financial security that was required by NRG.  We're talking about $232,000, sir.  It is a financial security for the future delivery services in event of non-payment under the gas delivery contract.

That was provided.  The letter of credit was provided.  The gas is flowing.  So NRG is clearly relying on that letter of credit.

They were provided with a letter of credit which is completely consistent with the gas delivery contract.  There is absolutely no basis to say that that letter of credit is somehow the basis of a breach by IGPC.

So the plant is operating.  The pipeline is operating.  The letter of credit has been provided.  There's simply no basis for what Mr. Thacker has stated.

So, in summary, sir, our position is that our evidence is germane and relevant to this proceeding and should remain on the record, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Thacker.
Further submissions by Mr. Thacker:

MR. THACKER:  A few points in response.  First, the starting point of this is the transcript of Issues Day which Mr. King has given me at page 27.

I am quoting what you said at page 27:

"Our goal next week will be to determine if additional security is necessary and what that amount is.  There may be rate consequences of that.  But these can be dealt with as a second order of business, possibly in the applicant's next rate case."


So to the extent that anybody is here saying what happens here might have a rate impact, that is not a basis for coming here slinging mud against the wall, and then outing it, it should just stay in the record unchallenged and untested.

The Issues Day was held and the issues were framed, and my submission is you correctly pointed out that simply having an interest in the rate impact is not a basis on which you get to come here and adduce evidence.

That is really what you heard, that we're here because it might have a rate impact, and that is not the test, in my submission.

Secondly, with respect to the letter of credit, there's evidence to the contrary in the record.  I am not going to get into it here, but we filed the evidence.  We can deal with that.  We're not relying on their letter of credit.  We didn't accept it.  We're flowing gas because we are prepared to keep going, just like in February when they had delayed giving us a letter of credit from October 2007 --

MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, this is a new matter.

MR. THACKER:  We continued with the project.  So it is not in reliance on any security deposit.  We are doing it, anyway, even though they haven't satisfied the requirements.

Third, NRG's opposition to this application here today is only to benefit the ratepayers.  My understanding of this process is that there will be a rate impact, regardless of the outcome.  But it won't -- the opposition that NRG is advancing here is not going to benefit NRG.  It benefits the ratepayers, and Mr. King will speak to the effect of what Union is seeking on the ratepayers.  

If the town was really here in a good faith effort in order to represent its constituents' concerns about rate impact, they would have done it a different way.  I invite you to look at the town's evidence and look at IGPC's evidence.

You will not see anything in there that deals with the financial stability of NRG.  There is no expert evidence, no analysis of financial statements, nothing to do with their credit position.  It is utterly unrelated to the test here today, which comes from section 5.04 of the general conditions, which really is whether or not Union has reasonable grounds to believe that the customer's creditworthiness has become unsatisfactory.

None of the evidence of the town or IGPC has anything to do with NRG's creditworthiness on its face.

Lastly, I would submit that you should not be persuaded by some suggestion that you should admit the evidence because it is now done, even though it is irrelevant.  It would be an error, in my submission, to allow this evidence to be part of the record at this stage.  

My submission is the right way to deal with it is it is out unless it is proven to be relevant.  You don't simply throw mud and allegations against NRG, leave the allegations in the record, but suggest that they don't really matter so they don't have to be cross-examined on.  That would be an error in my submission.  The better approach would be to take -- to rule that the evidence is not relevant, unless proven to be relevant.  And then we can confine this hearing to the issues before you.
Submissions by Mr. King:


MR. KING:  Sir, just one further submission, sir, on behalf of NRG.  Mr. Tunley has attempted to draw a link between the security that Union is seeking from NRG to the fact that NRG is seeking security deposits from its customers.  Somehow that linkage for him justifies the Town of Aylmer's evidence.

As you know, sir, NRG's security deposit policy has been reviewed in every rate case.  We conduct -- we carry out our security deposit policy in accordance with the Board-approved policy, and in any event, the Board has on its own motion currently before it a GDAR proceeding that is currently examining the security deposit policies of each and every gas utility.  So that will be dealt with at that proceeding.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  I have one question for you, Mr. Thacker.

You are absolutely right, that when the Board issued its oral decision on October 15th it said very clearly that the rate impact, if any, of the decision that we will try and come to today, that is, the question of whether security is required and, if so, how much, that the rate impact of any such decision would be dealt with as a second order.

Unfortunately, we left it up to the parties to go away and negotiate an issues list and it turns out they came out with issue no. 6, which is in fact the rate impact.

So it is there.  But my question to you is this:  I can tell you the Board has no intention today of dealing with the rate impacts.  We confirmed the position we clearly stated last week.  That it may be academic, it may not be academic, we will deal with it when it becomes a real question on real facts.

However, as to striking the evidence, would you be content if we said today we are not going to deal with this evidence today?  We will leave it in the record, but we will deal with it if there is a second phase to these proceedings, if that becomes necessary, that is to say to consider the rate consequences?


MR. THACKER:  I need to take instructions on that point.  One moment.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

[Mr. Thacker confers]

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  I have taken instructions.  If I understand, your suggestion would be that the evidence of both -- of NRG, the town, and Aylmer remain as part of the record, but not be considered until a second stage and if and only if it is considered there will be full opportunity to cross-examine on it?

MR. KAISER:  Correct.

MR. THACKER:  That's fine.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Let's proceed on that basis, gentlemen.

What's next?

MR. PENNY:  I was going to pass out the document that, pursuant to your direction and then we can proceed with Union's evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps we will give that an exhibit number, Mr. Chair.  I believe what we have are three years' worth of the Moody's RiskCalc analysis, or at least the summary.

We have 2005, 2006 and 2007.  So I would propose we call 2005 K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  2005 Moody's RiskCalc Summary


MR. MILLAR:  2006, K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  2006 MOODY'S RISK CALC SUMMARY

MR. MILLAR:  And 2007, K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  2007 MOODY'S RISK CALC SUMMARY
Opening Statement by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Just by way of opening, NRG is of course a distribution and bundled transportation customer of Union's and is of course itself a regulated distributor of natural gas.

There are two issues before you today.  First, NRG's bundled transportation contract, which came to an end on September 30, 2008 and, as I indicated on the Issues Day, Union was not prepared to continue with the existing terms and conditions and NRG was not inclined to renegotiate them.  So NRG's effectively receiving service month-to-month on the old terms and conditions, pending resolution of the ongoing and future conditions of service by the Board in this proceeding.

Union has a proposal to move NRG to a March 31 year end on its bundled T contract.  Other than transitional requirements for increased gas deliveries in the next five months to ensure zero balance on March 31, 2009, the other conditions of service would remain essentially the same under that contract.

Then the second issue involves Union's request for financial assurances in the form of a cash deposit or letter of credit and whether NRG should be required to provide these financial assurances as a condition of continued bundled T service.

Now, these two issues are raised in the alternative, and the reason for that is because it is essentially the same set of circumstances that lies at the heart of Union's concerns in both scenarios, both the continuation of the old terms of the bundled T contract and its request for financial assurances.

That circumstance I just want to outline so it is clear from the outset, and NRG is of course a direct purchase customer, buys its own gas and delivers it to Union, and then Union offers NRG a bundled transportation service, which looks after load balancing and such.

Under the terms of NRG's old bundled transportation contract, NRG was required to balance its gas deliveries with its gas consumption once a year, on September 30th.  Then commencing October 1, NRG began a new year of deliveries in accordance with its prescribed daily contract quantity, or DCQ.

However, because October 1 is just prior to the heating season, NRG's DCQ is insufficient to match its customers' demands from about December onward.

So NRG would, in the typical year, draft Union's system or borrow gas from Union from December to the end of March, when the borrowing or negative balance in its banked gas account would typically reach its peak, and then "repay," in a sense, this borrowed gas over the subsequent months such that by the next September 30 its balance would again equal zero.

So the issue here is that your annual -- the year of your annual renewal is the date on which you balance to zero.

At its peak, March 31, in a given year, the debt owed by NRG to Union as a result of this negative gas account is forecast for this coming March, March 2009, to be roughly $1.8 million.

I want to make a note here that's important to note, that this $1.8 million is not related to NRG delivery service.  It is a commodity-related debt which results from the fact that NRG delivers less gas than its customers consume from December to the end of March and borrows that difference from Union.

In fact, the evidence is that Union's total annual distribution revenue from NRG is $600,000.  Union is actually prepared -- and again the evidence is clear, Union is prepared to extend that level of credit to NRG.  So it is the commodity-related debt which accumulates by the end of March 31, which is roughly three times NRG's total annual bill for distribution service that is the source of the concern.

Union has no security and is seeking no security with respect to the distribution service or the $600,000 value of NRG's annual distribution billings.

It is also relevant, however, the evidence highlights, that NRG bills its customers on the basis of their actual consumption for the winter months, so that NRG is receiving the cash for its customers' commodity consumption, but it is actually borrowing at no charge the gas from Union.

So the core point is it is the $1.8 million negative balance that accumulates by the end of March that gives rise to the problem which underpins both issues that are on the table today.

On issue 1, it is Union's evidence the easiest, most direct solution is to simply change NRG's condition of bundled transportation service to provide for a March 31 year end, which means of course that they must have a zero balance on April 1.

What this means, more simply, is instead of borrowing gas from Union to meet its customers' demands, NRG will build up a surplus in storage of its own gas before the winter, which it will then draw down to meet the winter demand of its customers.

Once NRG is on the April 1 to March 31 schedule, its DCQ will be -- or its contracted daily quantities will be essentially the same as it was before.  The only impact on NRG, the evidence is, is in line -- is the one-time transition to March 31.  To avoid a negative balance by March 31 now, because it is already well into October, NRG would have to deliver increased volumes between November 1, 2008 and March 31, 2009 to match its deliveries to actual consumption and achieve a zero balance by March 31.

After that one-time transition, the change in the contract renewal date will have no material impact on NRG or its operations.

Then the second issue or the alternative -- is the alternative, which is financial assurances.

Union has quoted the relevant provisions of its bundled transportation contract in the evidence, and you can - you can find that - Mr. Thacker alluded to it briefly - at paragraph -- in the contract itself.  Now, that, Mr. Chairman -- I suppose I should pause.

That was delivered pursuant to a discussion at Issues Day on some financial statements and I do not believe has an exhibit number.  So perhaps that should be given an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  We're at K1.4.

MR. PENNY:  That's the southern bundled T gas contract dated October 2004.
Exhibit No. K1.4:  Southern bundled T gas contract dated October 2004.

MR. PENNY:  Do you have that, Mr. Chairman?

MR. KAISER:  I don't have it.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it -- it should be in your materials.

MS. SPOEL:  Is that with the October 16th, 2008 letter?

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  I will find it.  Continue.

MR. PENNY:  I can deal with it without going to the document, if you haven't got it right at hand, because it is also quoted in Union's evidence.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I have the clause.  I have --

MR. PENNY:  5.04?  

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  That's what I'm after.  So you will see in 5.04, under the heading - this is in the general terms and conditions - "Financial Assurance":
"If at any time during the term of this contract Union has reasonable grounds to believe that customer's creditworthiness under the contract has become unsatisfactory, then Union may by written notice request financial assurance from customer in an amount determined by Union in a commercially reasonable manner."

Then if you would look at the top of page 9, 5.04 goes on to say:
"The financial assurances requested by Union will not exceed the sum of the following..." 

And then (c) is the relevant provision.  It says:
"Customer supplies their own gas in an amount equivalent to the value as determined by Union of any current or projected negative banked gas account balance."

So that is what we say is the relevant provision.  There are, as I think has been indicated earlier and is contemplated by the issues list, two questions really arising out of the financial assurances issue.

The first is whether Union has reasonable grounds to believe that creditworthiness is unsatisfactory, and then the second is whether the amount of the financial assurance has been determined in a commercially reasonable manner.

On the question of reasonable grounds, Union's evidence is that it will become -- it became aware of NRG's 2006 audited financial statements in the late -- roughly the late summer of 2007.  There are three things revealed in those financial statements which Union regarded as constituting reasonable grounds for the belief that NRG's creditworthiness, in respect of a $1.8 million exposure, was unsatisfactory.  And they can all be seen right in the financial statements themselves.

So if you have Union's evidence, it is Exhibit 1, attached to Union's evidence, the 2006 audited financial statements.

On the very first page, you will see in the third paragraph - this is in the auditor's report - the auditor's report says:
"The company has issued an outstanding class C shares with the redemption value of $13,461,418.  Canadian generally accepted accounting principles require that the company present in classified shares that are retractable at the option of the shareholders and the liability on the balance sheet.  The company has presented these shares as part of shareholder's equity.  If the shares were classified as liabilities, then the total liabilities would increase by $13.4 million and share capital would decrease by 13.4 million."

And then the audit report goes on to say:
"In our opinion, except that the class C shares of the company have been presented as part of shareholder's equity rather than as a liability, these financial statements present fairly..."

Et cetera, et cetera.

Then if you flip to page 3 there, you can see what the impact of that is, because there we've got liabilities and shareholders' equity under column 2006.  You will see that there is some 13.4 million listed as shareholders' equity.  The auditor is saying that properly belongs in the liabilities portion.  That would take liabilities, adding that to 8.3 million, to some 21.9 million.  It leaves a deficit of 9 million in shareholders' equity, and that $4.3 million balance, being the difference between the 13 and the 9, would disappear.

So that was the first -- that, the evidence says, was the first issue.

MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you there, Mr. Penny?

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  My understanding is that the auditor's statement with respect to this reclassification, if I can call it that, arose out of a change in accounting standards procedures?

MR. PENNY:  We'll have to hear that from the auditor.  That wasn't my understanding.  That isn't how I read the auditor's evidence.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. PENNY:  We will have to find that out from him, from Mr. Pallett.

MR. KAISER:  Okay.

MR. PENNY:  In any event, this represents a -- it is our position, and I think the evidence is clear, this represents a change from 2005.

MR. KAISER:  But my question is:  These shares that we're discussing, these retractable shares --

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- they were in existence before, weren't they?

MR. PENNY:  They were.  We accept that.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. PENNY:  What wasn't in existence before was the qualified audit opinion which said they're properly treated as debt, not equity.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. PENNY:  The second issue arises from the fact that there is -- there was, between 2005 and 2006, I guess sometime in 2006, a financing which produced note 6 to these financial statements, which is at page 14.  

That note tells us that there is a Bank of Nova Scotia demand note of some $6.4 million and that the NRG has pledged the totality of its assets in support of that $6.4 million.

That was also, we say, new.  There was some prior debt in the amount of 2 million.  It was long-term, not short-term debt.  We know this is short-term debt because, if you will flip back to page 3 of the audited financial statements, which had the balance sheet, you will see that the $6.4 million is listed as a current liability.  That's not a long-term liability, and that's of course because it is a demand -- it's a loan that is due on demand.

So that, we say, was new.

MR. KAISER:  When you say it was new, that took place in 2006?

MR. PENNY:  Yes, it did.  This note is not in the 2005 audited financial statements.  I think we will hear from NRG that there was some long-term debt in the amount of some $2 million, but it was long-term and it was 2 million.  It wasn't current liability, and it wasn't 6.4 million.

Then the third and related change that shows up it is really a consequence of this point I just made, but it is, I think, a separate point.  The third and related change that shows up in the audited financial statements is back on pages 2 and 3, and that is the impact of that financing on current assets versus current liabilities.

So if you look at page 3, at the bottom of the liabilities piece, we've got $8.3 million in current liabilities, because there is no long-term debt any more.  And if you flip back to page 2, you see the current assets are only $3 million.

So what that shows us -- what the evidence is that showed to Union was that that the current assets weren't even sufficient to cover the bank's secured debt, much less Union's unsecured commodity related banked gas debt of $1.8 million on March 31.  That too was a significant change from 2005 when current assets were in much closer proximity to current liabilities, that I think in 2005 the difference was something in the order of 2.6 million in current liabilities, and 1.6 million in current assets.

So each of those developments contributes, Union will say, to a reasonable belief that NRG's creditworthiness has become unsatisfactory from relation to that 1.8 million commodity-related exposure.


MR. KAISER:  When did you first become aware of the $6.4 million Scotia note?

MR. PENNY:  I think the evidence will be and is that that was, you we will hear more of this from Ms. Elliott in a moment, but the -- as a result of some of the disputes that were arising from -- that we heard about this morning between NRG and one or more of its customers, Union looked into their credit situation, obtained a copy of their audited financial statements, I believe in the late summer of 2007.  Or early fall.  Somewhere in that vicinity.  August/September, I believe, is when Union first became aware of this.

So as a result of those developments, Union's therefore seeking, in this application, an order under section 36 and 23 either imposing as conditions of bundled transportation service an April 1 contract renewal date and a transitional DCQ for the, purely the transitional period, from November 1 to March 31, a DCQ targeted to achieve a zero banked gas account balance on March 31 of zero.

Or, imposing as a condition of continued service a requirement that NRG provide a cash deposit or letter of credit in the amount of $1.3 million.  The 1.3, I should say is the difference between the total exposure as at March 31, which is $1.9 million, of which $1.8 is this banked gas account, and the $600,000 of credit that Union is willing to prefer to NRG.  The $600,000, of course, represents something roughly equivalent to NRG's total annual payments to Union for distribution service.

So that is my opening.  And with that, I would then turn to introduce our witnesses.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  I take it there will be a one-time cost or expense to NRG of moving from borrowed gas to having all of that gas available upfront as they move into the winter season?

MR. PENNY:  There presumably is a cost to that, yes, because whereas they -- whereas they have previously been catching up with the negative balance by their contributions in the summer, I mean, if we started doing this a year ago, the impact wouldn't be as significant on a monthly basis but you still need to get to the zero balance.

So they do need to -- and the evidence outlines the quantities that Union at least has calculated, they do need to up the DCQ number to something -- right now, they're around 1500 and they need to up that to around 2500 for about five months to get that balance to zero by March 31.

So the witnesses we have today, Mr. Chairman, are Ms. Elliott, who is well known to the Board, and Mr. MacEacheron, who has also testified before the Board previously.  

Ms. Elliott, I will start with you.  You are currently the comptroller of Union Gas and have been since 2008?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's true, yes.  Do I need to get sworn in first?


MR. PENNY:  Why don't we do that.

MR. KAISER:  We should swear the witnesses.
UNION GAS - PANEL 1


Janet Patricia Elliott; Sworn  

David MacEacheron; Sworn
Examination by Mr. Penny:

MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Ms. Elliott, for that.  Now that we're properly constituted, can you confirm that you are the comptroller for Union Gas?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am, yes.

MR. PENNY:  Part of your responsibilities are for the, for credit risk assessment within Union Gas?


MS. ELLIOTT:  In the contract and large market, yes, that's true.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you.  You have been with Union Gas since 1981?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  And you have held a variety of roles in -- relating to rates, financial matters, and accounting for Union Gas.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's true.

MR. PENNY:  You worked for Clarkson Gordon when you --immediately after being certified as a chartered accountant?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. PENNY:  And you were certified as a chartered accountant in 1981, as I understand it.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  You have a bachelor of mathematics from the University of Waterloo from 1980.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You are a member of both the Institute of Chartered Accountants and the Canadian Institute.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  You have testified before this Board on more times than -- more times than I have certainly appeared before the Board, I'm sure.  And most recently in EB 2007-0598.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  You participated in the preparation of the, of Union's prefiled evidence in this matter?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I did.

MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt that evidence?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. MacEacheron, you, sir, are currently the strategic manager of industrial markets for Union Gas?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  In that capacity, you are responsible for gas supply matters, including contracting -- the gas supply contracting for customers such as NRG?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have been with Union Gas since 1979, I understand?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  In that capacity, you have held a number of positions relating to gas supply in both the retail and industrial markets?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  You have a civil engineering degree from the University of New Brunswick.

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  You are a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario.

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  You appeared before this Board in EB-2007-0725?

MR. MacEACHERON:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And you also were involved in the preparation of Union's evidence in this matter?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  And do you adopt that evidence?

MR. MacEACHERON:  I do.

MR. PENNY:  Now, Ms. Elliott, Mr. Kaiser had asked a question, I guess, about this, but what caused -- by way of overview and background, what caused the Union to reassess NRG's creditworthiness in 2007?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We would normally conduct an annual review on this size of an account, which had been scheduled for November, but events in the summer of 2007, before this Board, caused us to look early at the NRG financial situation.

We obtained the 2006 financial statements in August of 2007, and started our review process.

MR. PENNY:  Now, your evidence identifies three issues that arose out of those financial statements.  There was the qualified audit opinion on shareholders' equity, the bank security and the effect of the bank loan and security on current assets versus current liabilities.

Can you address whether those issues were identified as such in NRG's prior audited financial statements.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The 2005 financial statements did not include a qualification from the auditors with any concern over the presentation of their class C shares.  So that was not present in the 2005 statements.

The demand note was new in 2006 and it replaced about $2 million worth of long-term liability with $6 million current liability.  So that was also new in 2006.  And the result of that was the relationship between current liabilities and current assets moved from liabilities being 1.7 times the assets in 2005 to 2.8 times assets in 2006.  

So those were all items in the 2006 statements that were factored into our credit review.

MR. PENNY:  As a creditor of NRG's at its peak, some 1.8 million of commodity-related charges, what, from your perspective, was the impact of negative shareholders' equity?

MS. ELLIOTT:  One of the things that happens, if you look at the 2006 financial statements, the total asset value is just under $13 million.  If you look at the bank loan, it is just a little over $6 million.  So we are looking at assets above the bank loan of 6 million.

If you look at the remaining liabilities, including the share capital, the class C shares as a liability, there's $16 million worth of liabilities and about $6 million worth of assets to satisfy those.  So the negative shareholders' equity caused us, as a creditor, to be concerned about our ability to collect that money or the gas.

MR. PENNY:  Your evidence is that you looked at a range of factors when assessing credit risk and that you input certain information into a standard Moody's credit risk assessment model.  Can you explain how that works?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The Moody's model is a model that predicts or is used to determine credit risk for private firms in a mid market.

It is a tool that predicts the probability of default.  In addition to entering in the financial statement information, there's a database as part of the model that -- and the model itself is a statistical look at both the entity's financial statements, as well as the database, in an attempt to predict the probability of default.  

And it's -- the probability of default is the output of that model that we look at, in addition to the other factors, the timeliness of payments, the situation with the customer, in arriving at the internal credit rating.

MR. PENNY:  Who is it, do you understand, uses this Moody's credit risk assessment model?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There are a large number of utilities in both Canada and the US that use either the Moody's model or an equivalent predictor model to -- a model that predicts what they refer to as the expected default frequency.

MR. PENNY:  Right.  Now, I am not going to go into these documents, because Mr. Millar asked me if I would produce them and I will let Mr. Millar ask you whatever questions he wants to ask about them, but just for identification purposes, could you confirm that the three documents that were marked this morning as K1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 is the output for 2005, 2006 and 2007 of that model?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it is.

MR. PENNY:  And do you subject all of your major commercial and industrial customers to the same analysis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, we do.

MR. PENNY:  Have you done anything in the analysis of NRG that you would not do in the analysis of any other major customer?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, we have not.

MR. PENNY:  And the converse; is there anything you haven't done with respect to NRG that you would do with respect to any other major customer in terms of the credit analysis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. PENNY:  What was the result of that analysis compared to what you had done previously using the 2005 audited financial statement?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The result was a reduction in the internal credit rating.  So the expected default frequency in 2005 was much lower than the expected frequency in 2006.

That is a result of the increase in the liabilities without a corresponding increase in the assets.

MR. PENNY:  Does your proposal for financial assurances eliminate all extension of credit to NRG?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  We've extended $600,000 of unsecured credit in NRG's case, which is their normal receivable risks of two months of demand charges, plus some portion of the negative gas balance.

So we are looking for security on the remaining portion of the negative gas balance.

MR. PENNY:  Do you routinely seek financial assurances, such as those being sought here, from other major customers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, we do.

MR. PENNY:  Are those assurances given?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  We either get assurance in the form of an LOC; sometimes we get security deposits.  Other times we get the parameters of the contract renegotiated to reduce the actual level of credit required.

MR. PENNY:  You have anticipated my next question.

Do you routinely, as one answer to this situation, renegotiate the conditions of bundled T service to avoid the accumulation of large negative balances?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We do, yes.

MR. PENNY:  There is a note in your evidence that since last fall you have also looked at NRG's 2007 audited financial statements and updated your analysis.

What impact did that update have on your credit analysis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The impact of the 2007 statements was -- it slightly decreased or actually increased the expected default frequency, but it wasn't a significant enough change to change the credit rating that we have assigned.

MR. PENNY:  One of the things that NRG's counsel has said in correspondence to you, and also in the evidence here, is that NRG has never defaulted on a payment to Union Gas.  Is that true?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's true, to the best of my knowledge.

MR. PENNY:  How does that figure into the analysis of a credit assessment?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That is certainly part of what we consider and part of what we considered in extending $600,000 worth of unsecured credit to NRG.

MR. PENNY:  And, Mr. MacEacheron, could I just ask you, your evidence outlines a proposal to change the conditions of the service for NRG's bundled transportation service to an April 1 to March 31 annual contract period and to change their DCQ first to one amount in the transition to April 1, 2009, and then back to another amount for each annual period thereafter.

First of all, why have you proposed the year end of March 31, and what is the effect of that change?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Well, under the bundled T arrangement, a customer delivers a fixed daily quantity of gas to Union every day, and that's matched with the consumption of the customers served under that contract.

At the anniversary date of the contract, the consumption is matched to the supply such that there is a zero balance.  So every year at the renewal date of the contract, the contract assumes a zero balance.  By selecting March 31 as the renewal date for the NRG bundled T contract, we will achieve a zero balance on that date and eliminate the source of the draft or the negative or the loan of the gas to NRG at that date.

MR. PENNY:  And then there is a transitional impact, as I understand it.  Why have you reconfigured NRG's -- or proposed a reconfiguration of NRG's obligated DCQ, and how did you determine what that number should be?

MR. MacEACHERON:  In order to achieve a zero balance on March 31, what we need to do is increase supply.  What NRG needs to do is increase supply to match the consumption during the period that that would begin.  And let's say it is November 1 through to March 31.

What we have to have through that five-month period is consumption equalling supply.  In order to achieve that, given the heat-sensitive nature of the customer base that NRG has, the higher consumption, in other words, in the winter months, we need to increase their daily deliveries or daily supply to Union in that specific five-month period to equal the total consumption, such that on March 31 supply will equal consumption.

Then we can begin on April 1 with a brand new bundled T contract that has roughly the same level of daily deliveries that you are seeing right now under the current NRG bundled T contract.

MR. PENNY:  Then, finally, just dealing with a couple of items that have arisen out of the evidence received from NRG late yesterday afternoon.

First of all, Ms. Elliott, regarding the retractable shares, NRG says the presentation in the financial statements has changed only in form, and that the fact that the class C shares were retractable has always been disclosed in the financial statements.

What is your response to that or can you comment on that, please.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The previous statements did include a note that the option existed and the company presented the shares as equity.

The issue here is, in 2006, the auditors expressed concern with that presentation and actually indicated that it needed to be presented as a liability.  So that was part of what triggered our review.

MR. PENNY:  The auditors -- the evidence prepared by NRG also focuses on certain postponement, an agreement to postpone the retraction rights vis-à-vis the Bank of Nova Scotia, the secured creditor.

What's Union's view of that postponement?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The agreement signed in August of 2008 from NRG to the bank to agree to postpone their retraction of the class C shares certainly would provide protection to the bank.  But once the bank is no longer providing credit to the company, there is no protection afforded to the unsecured creditors from that assignment or that agreement.

MR. PENNY:  And I think you have perhaps addressed this already, but the -- NRG says the priority of a secured lender over Union's unsecured debt is not new because there was a secured lender before 2006 in the form of Imperial Life and they say, therefore, the secured bank financing in 2006 was not really a change because there was a secured creditor before.

What does Union say about that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The previous liability was a $2 million long-term loan that was secured with the assets.

The bank loan is actually $6 million, and it is a demand loan, secured by the assets.

MR. PENNY:  Does that have implications for your credit analysis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In terms of the amount of assets to meet the obligations, the assets haven't changed, while the obligation has increased, yes.

MR. PENNY:  Finally, NRG says that -- makes the point I think that two of their commodity suppliers are unsecured creditors and that they supply over $4 million annually in gas from the two of them, without the requirement for security.

What is Union's response to that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  One of the concerns I would have or the comments I would have is the gas supplier will only carry exposure for one or possibly two months’ worth of gas supply deliveries and that supplier has the right to terminate future deliveries, if they're not being paid.

So I think the suppliers in this case are probably exposed to a level of -- their level of exposure is certainly less than the $1.8 million that we're exposed to in lending NRG gas for an extended payment term.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, can you just explain that a bit?  How do you get from this four million annual to some other number?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Well, certainly, the annual purchase split between a couple of suppliers would potentially put $2 million in each supplier, a month or two of that supply purchase would be in the hundreds of thousands of dollars, not the millions of dollars.

MR. PENNY:  I see, thank you.  All right.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Elliott, you mentioned the postponement is only in favour of the bank.  If there were a similar postponement in favour of Union, does that solve the problem?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It doesn't solve the problem entirely, but it certainly eliminates the class C shareholders as a potential creditor, yes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Thacker.

MR. THACKER:  Mr. King is going to cross-examine these witnesses.

MR. KING:  Am I going first or are other parties going to proceed ahead of me?

MR. KAISER:  I am in your hands.

MR. STOLL:  We have one or two questions of Union.

MR. KAISER:  Would you --

MR. STOLL:  I prefer to go last, yes.

MR. KAISER:  Let's let the intervenors go first in that event, Mr. Stoll.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.   Sorry, I am actually trying to see both people.
Cross-examination by Mr. Stoll:


MR. STOLL:  The exposure that Union is talking about is related to the bank gas account that they have with NRG and is there more than one banked gas account between NRG and Union?

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes, there would be one for the bundled T arrangement that we have with NRG that we're speaking to today, and then there is one with the bundled T arrangement that we have that's dedicated to serving the ethanol plant with NRG.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  And the only one --

MR. MacEACHERON:  That agreement is with NRG, that bundled T agreement.

MR. STOLL:  So this proceeding is only dealing with that one contract and one account?

MR. MacEACHERON:  The first one, the one that we have been talking about.



MR. STOLL:  Okay.  That's all the questions I have.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Tunley.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just one point, if I may, and it is probably for you, Ms. Elliott.
Cross-examination by Mr. Tunley:


MR. TUNLEY:  Just looking at the financial statements, the 2006 statement was an attachment to Union's October 9th proposal -- or submission.  Do you have that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.

MR. TUNLEY:  Your counsel took you to page 3 and you were asked about this new term note, the $6.454 million term note that was introduced in 2006.

Do you recall that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And I take it that replaces, in part, the $6.454 million replaces the $2.335 million of long-term debt in 2005?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  If you just look down at the bottom line, in terms of shareholders' equity, from 2005 to 2006 there is a reduction, do you see, from 15.5 million roughly to 13.461?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And if you go to the note -- sorry, it was page 17, note 9, it appears, if you look at the very last line of that note, and the previous table comparing the share structures in the two years, it appears that there was a payout of approximately $2 million of the class A shares from 2005 to 2006.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  My question is, simply:  It appears that that was done using the proceeds of the $6.5 million loan to payout the shareholder.  Do you know that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't know that, no.  That is a question that is probably better asked of NRG.

MR. TUNLEY:  Fine.  I will hold it for that purpose.  But my question for you is simply is the reduction of the overall shareholders’ equity from 15.5 million down to just under 13.5, was that material, in your analysis, of the creditworthiness of NRG?

MS. ELLIOTT:  What was more significant was the increase in current liabilities from the 2.6 to the 8.3, or an increase in the total liabilities that appears to have offset that decrease in shareholder equity.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  But that increase, in turn, includes the $6.5 million loan.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. King.
Cross-examination by Mr. King:


MR. KING:  Thank you.

Union carries out annual credit reviews of its customers; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. KING:  And one of the primary elements of that credit review is a review of the customers' financial statements; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. KING:  And your evidence states that it was when Union as carrying out its credit review of NRG in August 2007, using then NRG's 2006 financial statements, that Union came to the conclusion or determination that NRG's creditworthiness was unsatisfactory.  Correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. KING:  And specifically I will ask you to confirm that it was two items in the 2006 financial statements that caused Union concern, the first being the qualified auditor's opinion in the 2006 financials, and, second, the fact that as part of NRG's new loan in 2006, NRG had pledged all its assets under a general security agreement; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  Those are the events that were factored into the credit review in 2006.

MR. KING:  Could you please turn up -- I am looking at the prefiled evidence of David Pallett.  That is the thinner volume I provided this morning.

I am looking at appendix A, in particular.  And if you are there --

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't actually have the labelling on my package that would tell me what appendix A is.

MR. KING:  These are 2003 financial statements from NRG, and I have turned up for you page 13.  Under 6 there, long-term debt, you will see the following statement:
"The following has been pledged as security for the Imperial Life loan:  (a) fixed and floating charge over all of the assets of the company; (b) general security agreement; (c) general assignment of accounts receivable; (d) assignment of all risk insurance."  

Do you see that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.

MR. KING:  Union would have reviewed this in your 2004 annual credit review?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am certain we did, although I can't speak to the 2003 credit review.

MR. KING:  Could you just flip to appendix D, also in Mr. Pallett's evidence?

And appendix D is the actual general security agreement that is referenced in the 2003 financial statements, and you will see the date there is June 1994.  And I think we will hear from Mr. Pallett, when he takes the stand, that the fact that NRG had pledged all of its assets has been disclosed in every financial statement since 1994.

My question is:  Why did your concern, specifically in your evidentiary revolving around the pledging of all of the assets, not cause Union concern prior to 2006?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The concern in 2006 stemmed from the change from a long-term liability, which was previously disclosed at about $2 million, to a demand note to the bank at $6 million, is really what the -- what triggered the review.

MR. THACKER:  Ms. Elliott, you told us that a credit review is done annually; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  But you can't tell us what was done in 2003?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I can't tell you specifically what was done in the 2003 review, no.

MR. THACKER:  I take it that you have no evidence to give about the credit review done in 2004?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  You have no evidence to give about the credit review done in 2005?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Beyond the production of the Moody's RiskCalc and the fact that the previous credit review done in 2005 produced a higher rating than the current credit review.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  You don't know why that is, though, because you had no involvement; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Well, one of the reasons why the credit rating went down is because the liabilities in the new statements increased, liabilities both on a short-term basis, as well as the total liabilities, including the class C shares.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't have any role in the credit reviews done prior to the review of the 2006 financial statements; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I did not.

MR. THACKER:  So you have no evidence as to what was done in terms of the credit reviews prior to August 2007?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Beyond following the company procedure for credit reviews, including the Moody's RiskCalc, which we -- we have provided the 2005 calculation.

MR. THACKER:  Apart from reading the documents, you don't have any knowledge about what was done prior to -- in any credit review prior to August 2007?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  Now, if you look at the evidence of Mr. Pallett and turn to tab A, please, note 7?

MS. SPOEL:  Did you say tab A?

MR. THACKER:  Tab A, which is the 2003 financial statements, note 7.  

You will agree with me that the transaction that created the class C shares occurred in fiscal 2003?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, they didn't previously exist in 2002.

MR. THACKER:  And that creation of those class C shares was referred to in note 7 of the 2003 audited financial statements you are looking at, at note 7?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  You will agree with me that if you look at 2004 financial statements, which are at tab B, page 7, there is a description of those retractable shares under the heading "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in the notes to the financial statements?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  The company elected to present them as equity rather than liability.

MR. THACKER:  And then would you turn to your evidence which contains the NRG 2005 financial statements, page 7?  Once again, if we look at the notes to the financial statements, would you agree with me that it contains the very same note description of the existence of the class C shares that we saw in 2004?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it does.

MR. THACKER:  And the Moody's model is intended to predict propensity for default; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  And you will agree with me that the Moody's model requires inputs from the people doing the credit review?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you would agree with me, if you are reviewing the 2004 financial statements, you would include these retractable shares as a liability, if you are carrying it out under the Moody's model?

MS. ELLIOTT:  You're asking if I was doing the 2004 credit review at this point in time?

MR. THACKER:  If you had done it in 2004 reading the 2004 financial statements for the purpose that the Moody's model is used, you would include those class C shares as a liability, wouldn't you?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And if it had done -- you were doing a review of the 2005, you would include them as a liability?

MS. ELLIOTT:  To the extent that the shares are retractable at the shareholders' request, yes, I would view them as a liability.

MR. THACKER:  What we have here is an error that you made -- that Union made in not reading the financial statements; is that your evidence?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In the 2005 credit review, that classification was not considered in doing the credit review, that's correct.

MR. THACKER:  Well, it wasn't inputted?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It was not input as a liability.

MR. KING:  Mr. MacEacheron, to you.  How long have you been an employee of Union Gas?

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman.  I thought when we moved from Mr. King to Mr. Thacker that Mr. King was done.  It is, in my experience, highly unusual to cross-examine by tag team, and that normally in 100 percent of the cases that I have ever been involved in, counsel may share cross-examination but they don't bounce back and forth.  

So I take exception to the process that my friends have adopted.  

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, you have to admit it is more entertaining?

[Laughter]


MR. KING:  This will be the last bounce, if that makes Mr. Penny feel any better.  We had to divide up the work between us, given that we received most of our evidence on Wednesday afternoon and Friday afternoon.  You will forgive us for having to work over the weekend and divide this up.  

 MR. MacEACHERON:  I have been an employee with Union Gas since 1979.  

MR. KING:  How many section 42 applications to discontinue service has Union brought in the past, since you have been employed with Union?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I don't have knowledge of that.  

MR. KING:  Any?  That you know of? 

MR. MacEACHERON:  I am simply not aware of that.  I would add that dealing with normal non-utility type customers, we have the right to shut off a customer as NRG does, for non-payment, non-performance of the contract, for default under a contract.  

So you wouldn't need a section 42, in case of a contract account for any customer for that matter.

MR. KING:  What would normally happen to a customer who, for whatever reason, cannot continue to be a direct- purchase customer?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That customer -- 

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, can I just clarify.  Are you asking, through you, Mr. Chairman, is Mr. King asking about distributors or non-distributor customers?  

MR. KING:  Both.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Could you repeat the question, please. 

MR. KING:  What would normally happen to a customer who, for whatever reason, cannot continue to be a direct-purchase customer?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  That customer could default back to a system supply arrangement with Union Gas.  

MR. KING:  That's not what Union is proposing in this case.  

MR. MacEACHERON:  No.  

MS. ELLIOTT:  That option doesn't necessarily eliminate the credit exposure, because now we're looking at two months of receivable risk that includes the gas supply charge.  So there would continue to be credit exposure for a sales customer, the amount of which we would have to calculate and security would continue to be requested.  

MR. KING:  I think you said earlier that the delivery revenue from NRG to Union was $600,000 a year.  Is that correct?  

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's approximately the annual revenue, yes.  

MR. KING:  So the risk you're talking about would be one-sixth of that, two months of that. 

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, if the customer was -- that's delivery revenue only that is not –- there’s no revenue or there is no profit in the gas supply charge.  

So the gas is provided, and in the case of a direct purchase, the gas is consumed and then it is repaid.  In the case of a sales customer, the gas would be consumed and there would be a bill go out for the cash payment, and it's the amount of the cash payment that would increase the receivable risk of a sales customer.  

MR. KING:  It would be a different order of magnitude, I assume. 

MS. ELLIOTT:  It would be the two highest winter months' gas supply as opposed to the accumulation of the negative imbalance at the end of March.  It would be a different number.  

MR. KING:  Do any Union direct purchase customers have a direct purchase contract start date that is other than October 1st or April 1st?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  Yes.  

MR. KING:  Has NRG ever failed to not balance when required?  

MR. MacEACHERON:  I am not aware of any failure to not balance when required.  

MR. KING:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, anything?  

MR. MILLAR:  I think I have a couple of questions, Mr. Chair, many of them have been covered but I think there is a couple left over.

Cross-examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  I would like to start with some questions about the class C shares and the new accounting treatment for them.  

If I understand the gist of it, the issue is that for the 2005 statements, it was an unqualified opinion that showed shareholder equity in the amount of about 4.3 million.  If you do the math following the qualified opinion, you get to negative equity of a 9.1 million.  Have I got that right?  

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think you are quoting 2006 numbers?  

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, 2006, yes, the ones that I have in the prefiled evidence.  My mistake.  

What I want to get at is a little bit of a discussion.  Some of this may flow from my ignorance of accounting matters frankly so I ask you to bear with me.  I want to understand why, with regard to the class shares, two things.  

First, does the -- imagine that there was no qualified opinion, these were properly treated as equity.  Would that provide more security for creditors if this was in fact equity?   

MS. ELLIOTT:  If the share capital represented equity in that they weren't retractable and didn't become an unsecured creditor in the pool with Union Gas, then, yes, the greater the equity, the more assurance that the unsecured creditors would have, that they would get recovery of their obligations.  

MR. MILLAR:  Can you explain that to me a little bit more?  

I take it that just classifying it as equity doesn't turn that into money that would be lying around in the bank, for example.  How does that provide more?  

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is the claim that the shareholder would have against the company's assets, if it was retracted and converted into a liability, their claim would be in the same category as Union's unsecured claims.  If they're left or they remain in the equity category, then the unsecured creditors would get dealt with before the shareholders.  So it is really a priority of service, if you will. 

MR. PENNY:  It is really a legal argument, but Ms. Elliott has correctly captured the legal position, shareholders rank last, they come after creditors; but if you can convert the shares into a liability or into a debt, debt owing, then they don't rank last.  They participate or compete for unsecured dollars.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, that is helpful. In terms of the risk of default.  How is it that changing from a positive equity position to a negative equity position, if that is correct, how is it that that increases the risk of default?  If you wanted to refer to the RiskCalc, I just received this now and frankly I see a whole lot of numbers.  If there is an easy way to refer to that through the RiskCalc analysis, that would be helpful as well.  

MS. ELLIOTT:  I guess the simplest way to describe it would be the difference between the total assets and the total liabilities.  So the bigger the difference, the lower the probability of default. 

In this case, NRG 2006 financials total assets are just under $13 million.  

If you looked at the liabilities, moving the share capital to a liability, you have liabilities of $21 million.  

If you leave the liabilities or the equity where it is, then your liabilities are $8 million.  It just reduces the gap between the assets and the liabilities.  

MR. MILLAR:  And again maybe I am asking what will sound like a simple question or a small-minded question.  But why does that make them a greater default risk?  

MS. ELLIOTT:  It really comes down to the probability of default and the fact that along with the financial statements, what the Moody's RiskCalc does is look at a whole population of financial data from the industry and assesses sort of what -- under what conditions customers do default or have default, and it becomes a statistical analysis, in terms of comparing NRG financial results with a broader population in the industry to arrive at what the Moody's formula produces as the expected default frequency.  

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So this is simply one of the inputs in Moody's RiskCalc, and it must go through all sort of analysis we're not likely to get to the bottom of today.  But the long and the short of it is that changing from positive equity to negative equity, at least according to this Moody’s RiskCalc, will increase your risk of default.  Is that the long and short of it? 

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, although the greater impact would be the size of the liability, the other side of that.  

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.   

MS. SPOEL:  I wanted to ask you a follow-up question on Mr. Millar's question.  

When Moody’s RiskCalc does this analysis and you're talking about it deals with the industry, is that an industry of all of your industrial customers who receive bundled T?  

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  It is a broader -- 

MS. SPOEL:  Or is it -- is it the industry as a whole?  Or is it regulated utilities or is there any differentiation given to the kind of businesses that you are dealing with or that it’s modelled with?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  In fact, if you look at the front of the output, in the top box it will tell you what sector we have actually selected in comparing these financial statements into.

So it is a population of financial data from the mining, transportation and utility sectors.

MS. SPOEL:  Is that where it says industry specification?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  It says sector unassigned?

MS. ELLIOTT:  You are looking probably looking at the 2005.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, yes, I am.  So that could have been with Noranda and...

MS. ELLIOTT:  I can't tell you who is in the population, but certainly there is an extensive database of companies.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

I had some questions on the demand loan, but I think they have largely been asked and answered.  I do understand your concern that, at least in Union's view, all of NRG's assets are already spoken for by the bank and they have priority.  

Just to be clear, does that feed directly into the RiskCalc analysis, or is that a separate consideration?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That is a separate consideration.

MR. MILLAR:  So I wouldn't find that in here?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Sticking with the RiskCalc, I understand that this is software or is a program that is used not just by Union, but by many businesses, I take it?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I heard you say you don't just use it for NRG.  You use it for -- would it be all of your large delivery contracts?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, all of our contract market and our storage and transportation customers.

MR. MILLAR:  So all of your BT contracts?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  How many of those contracts would there be, approximately?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We have about 1,100 contracts.  There's probably 600 of those that have an exposure in excess of $200,000 where we would run through them this model.

MR. MILLAR:  So you certainly would do hundreds every year?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  How many of these contracts would have a counterparty that is a rate-regulated monopoly?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We actually only have three customers that are distributors.

MR. MILLAR:  So Kitchener, Kingston and NRG?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Kitchener, NRG and Six Nations.

MR. MILLAR:  Six Nations, I'm sorry.  Okay.

Does the RiskCalc analysis take into account -- is that question asked anywhere in this analysis, whether or not you are dealing with another rate-regulated utility?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that a rate-regulated monopoly would at least tend to be less risky than an ordinary commercial business?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I would agree that in this particular case the gas that NRG is borrowing from us is going to end use consumers and they're collecting from those consumers.

The issue I have is the access to that cash in the event of default on the loan.  I don't have any -- but there should be a stream of cash coming for the gas that's being consumed, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So all else being equal, would you say a rate-regulated monopoly is less risky than an ordinary commercial enterprise?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It depends on their customer mix.

MR. MILLAR:  All else being equal?

MS. ELLIOTT:  All else being equal.

MR. MILLAR:  That is not taken into account in the RiskCalc analysis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not specifically, no.  It would be another factor that we would consider, and certainly in extending NRG the 600,000 of unsecured credit is part of that.

MR. MILLAR:  That gets to my next question.  The analysis doesn't actually produce the figure $600,000; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, it doesn't.

MR. MILLAR:  That was done by your own judgment.  Is that how you came to that number?

MS. ELLIOTT:  At a B-rated entity, that is the maximum that we would provide on an unsecured basis.

MR. MILLAR:  That is a formal Union policy?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You were asked if Union had ever missed a payment on this contract -- pardon me, NRG, and the answer to that was no.

Are you aware -- do you have any knowledge of NRG missing major payments to any other -- to anyone else it may owe money?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am not aware of missed payments.  Their Dun & Bradstreet would indicate that their payments extend beyond terms, but...

MR. MILLAR:  Have you ever done a credit check on NRG outside of this type of analysis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We would look at the Dun & Bradstreet.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

One of the things Union might be hampered with, I take it -- I know that we have certain financial information from NRG.  The most recent stuff we have I believe is the 2007 financial statements.

The answer to this may well be "no", but in a perfect world, if Union had access to anything it wanted, is there anything -- any information, any updated information, that it could possibly receive that would assist it in doing this creditworthiness analysis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Normally what we look for is the financial statement information from all of our customers.  To the extent that they provide that to us, that goes into the credit review.  Those customers who don't provide financial information normally end up providing security in lieu of.

But, no, our annual review and the annual financial statements, what would happen or -- in the case of a commercial contract, there would be further discussions and possibly further evidence or further information that would be provided to alter the internal rating.

MR. MILLAR:  But you are satisfied with the information you have from NRG at this time?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny, anything in re-examination?

MR. PENNY:  Did the Board have questions?

MR. KAISER:  I think we are okay.
Re-examination by Mr. Penny:

MR. PENNY:  All right.  I just had one quick question in clarification, and it arose out of a question Mr. Millar asked, actually.  He asked you about whether the pledge of the assets itself was in the RiskCalc model, and I think you said "no".

What about the amount of the debt owing to the bank in 2006 versus previously?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  That is part of the RiskCalc model.  You can see that on the current liabilities line in 2007.  You can see the 2005 current liability number was much less.

MR. PENNY:  All right, thank you.  Those are all of my questions.
Questions by the Board:

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Elliott, I did have one matter.  Have you ever asked NRG for a postponement similar to the one that they granted to Scotiabank?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We never got that far in our conversations, no.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  What's next, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  I believe Mr. Penny has no further witnesses.  We are right around 12.  We might consider an early lunch, although we haven't had a terribly long morning.  But I assume Mr. King is ready to go with his witnesses, so I think we are in your hands.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't we do this, Mr. King, if it is acceptable?  Can we hear your people in-chief, and then we will break for lunch?

MR. KING:  Sure.  Let's do that.

MS. SPOEL:  Why don't we swear the witnesses?  You just have these two witnesses, just Mr. Thacker and Mr. Pallett?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Mr. Pallett and Mr. Bristoll.
NATURAL RESOURCE GAS - PANEL 1

David Pallett, Sworn


Mark Bristoll, Sworn

Opening statement by Mr. King:

MR. KING:  So our witness panel is Mr. Mark Bristoll, the president and chairman of NRG, and Mr. David Pallett, NRG's auditor with Neal, Pallett & Townsend.

What I have done is prepared sort of a one-page cheat sheet that is essentially a summary of the prefiled evidence of Mr. Pallett and NRG, solely on the Union issues.

It is set up in terms of setting out Union's two arguments, and then NRG's response, which you will find in the evidence of Mr. Pallett and to some extent the company's evidence as well.

It hinges -- it keys off of Union's two key arguments, Union's first argument being that NRG's 2006 financial statements were accompanied by the qualified auditor's opinion, which stated that GAAP required NRG's class C shares to be shown as a liability not equity on account of their retractability.  What you will find in the evidence of Mr. Pallett and Mr. Bristoll are the following NRG responses, that the NRG's class C shares were created in 2003, well before 2006.  That the retractable nature of those class C shares has been explicitly disclosed on NRG's financial statements since 2003.  That the GAAP requirement that those shares be treated for accounting purposes as a liability and not equity has been explicitly disclosed on NRG's financial statements since 2004.  We have talked about those points today.

Also, that NRG's class C shareholder has postponed its right to retract these shares for five years under the terms of Bank of Nova Scotia loan, so those shares cannot be retracted.

That the class C shares still represent equity and they are still the legal paid-up capital of the company.  They are the shareholders' contribution to this business.  And that NRG's capital structure has been scrutinized at the most recent two OEB proceedings dealing with rates and at both of those proceedings, I believe Union was an intervenor.

In response to the second argument of Union that is Union's argument that in 2006 NRG pledged all of its present and future assets, property and undertaking to the Bank of Nova Scotia pursuant to NRG's new financing was a cause for concern, NRG's response in its evidence consists of five points.  First is simply that general security agreements are common secured financings for both large and small companies and the evidence speaks to that.  That NRG's assets have been fully pledged under a general security agreement since at least 1994.  That the fact that those assets have been pledged under a GSA since 1994 has been explicitly disclosed in every financial statement since 1994.  And that perhaps more importantly, the existence or non-existence of a GSA is not indicative of creditworthiness.  Since being purchased by the current owner in 1979, NRG has grown its customer base by 350 percent in those, just shy of 30 years, from about 2,000 customers to 6,500 customers and was recently able to secure financing from one of the five major Canadian banks.



And also finally, that NRG never has missed a payment to Union or a balancing point to Union.  So that is the summary of the evidence.

I will just briefly introduce the witnesses.  To you first, Mr. Pallett.  You are a partner in Neal, Pallett & Townsend LLP; is that correct?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KING:  You have an HBA from the University of Western Ontario's business school in 1987?


MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And you received your chartered accountancy designation in 1990?


MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And you are responsible for the preparation of NRG's financial statements; is that correct?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And sir, you participated in the drafting of your evidence, that's the prefiled evidence of David Pallett; correct?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KING:  You accept that evidence as true and accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And Mr. Bristoll, you are the president and chairman of NRG?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Correct.

MR. KING:  And how long have you been in that position, sir?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Since 2005.

MR. KING:  And you participated in the preparation of the prefiled evidence of Natural Resource Gas Limited filed in this proceeding; is that correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  It is true and accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. KING:  That's correct.

MR. KING:  The panel is available for cross-examination.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Tunley.  Anything?

MR. KING:  Pardon?

MR. KAISER:  Do you have any questions, Mr. Tunley?
Cross-examination by Mr. Tunley:


MR. TUNLEY:  I have just have the one question.  Perhaps you were present when I asked it of Ms. Elliott and that is about the -- if you could have in front of you the September 1996 (sic) financial statements.

I have them as an attachment to Union's 2006.  Sorry, did I say 1996?  2006.  I have them as an attachment to the October 9th evidence from Union.

MR. PALLETT:  I have them.

MR. TUNLEY:  I had asked about the reduction in shareholders' equity from 15.5 million down to 13.46 million from 2005 to 2006.  That's shown on page 3.

My question was simply, was that reduction -- there is reference again on page 17 to a payment, to the class A shareholders of just over 2 million as a reduction of stated capital.  Are you aware of that?

MR. PALLETT:  Are you asking Mark or myself?

MR. TUNLEY:  I am not sure which of you is able to answer, so...

MR. BRISTOLL:  I am aware.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And was that payment to shareholders financed in part from the $6.454 million term loan that was entered into with the Bank of Nova Scotia at that time?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It was a dividend that issued in normal course of business.

MR. TUNLEY:  It was a dividend rather than a payment out of the shares?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I'm sorry.  It was a reduction of paid-up capital.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And therefore not a dividend?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.  Not a dividend.

MR. TUNLEY:  Was that entered into following the placement of the Bank of Nova Scotia loan, do you know, in terms of timing?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It occurred after the funds were received from the bank loan.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary.
Cross-examination by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Mr. Chair, just a couple of questions, the first to Mr. Bristoll.  There was a brief discussion, Mr. Bristoll, about the possibility of NRG going to a system gas basis with Union.  You will recall you were in the room for that discussion?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  You will agree with me, I presume, that you understand that IGPC is a direct-purchase customer; correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  Would you agree with me that at least in respect of IGPC, that the option does not exist of -- for NRG to convert to a system gas customer?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I believe they have their own gas under contract elsewhere.

MR. O'LEARY:  That's right.  So that it is not an option that is open to you or the Board to require NRG to become a system gas customer, at least so far as IGPC's volumes are concerned.  Is that fair?

MR. BRISTOLL:  At this time, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And my other question is to you, Mr. Pallett.

We heard from NRG's counsel at the beginning during the opening today something to the effect that there was agreement between IGPC and NRG that the construction and operation of the pipeline would not raise the risk profile of NRG.

Based upon your experience and understanding of the financial position of NRG, would you agree with that statement?

MR. PALLETT:  Sorry, can you repeat that?  I'm not following what you are asking me.

MR. O'LEARY:  There was, at the beginning, a statement made by Mr. Thacker, who is counsel for NRG, to the effect that that parties, being IGPC and NRG, had agreed that the construction and the continued operation of the IGPC pipeline would not raise the risk profile of NRG.

I am asking you, as the auditor of NRG, to confirm that what Mr. Thacker said to the Board was in fact correct.

MR. PALLETT:  Would not raise the overall risk?

MR. THACKER:  I am going to object here only because this witness has not heard necessarily all of the factual evidence that would be necessary to support the conclusion or give an opinion on the point.  He wasn't called for that purpose.

MR. O'LEARY:  Perhaps I could ask it another way, then, sir.

In terms of the audited financial statements that are before this Board, is there anything in them that would indicate that there was any level of concern about the risk profile of NRG arising from the construction of the IGPC pipeline?

MR. PALLETT:  I mean, it is not my job nor my normal daily activities to assess creditworthiness of any organization.  I am an auditor, and that is my normal activity.

If you are asking my personal opinion, I am not sure that is really relevant.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am asking your opinion as a person with your credentials that you presented here today.

MR. PALLETT:  As an auditor?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.

MR. PALLETT:  I guess if you raise debt of any organization, increase the debt of any organization, it can have an impact on the evaluation of that organization.  But they have also raised assets correspondingly.

MR. O'LEARY:  So do you then have an opinion as to whether or not there has been any impact on the creditworthiness of NRG by the construction and operation of the IGPC pipeline?

MR. PALLETT:  I haven't evaluated the corresponding letter of credit that has been provided by IGPC, so I will admit, you know, that is a corresponding offset to that potential increase in what would be credit risk.  If I were to go through and evaluate that process and determine that that was a direct offset, potential liability, that would moot the impact of any increase or decrease in the creditworthiness of NRG.  But I have not done that as part of my audit process.

MR. O'LEARY:  So you aren't able to provide --

MR. PALLETT:  Nor am I required to.

MR. O'LEARY:  So you aren't able to help us today.  Mr. Bristoll, can I ask you the same question?  Do you accept the statement that Mr. Thacker gave earlier today to the Board?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That the intention of issuing the letter of credit was there to mitigate any increased risk to NRG? 

MR. O'LEARY:  No, that wasn't what the question was.  Mr. Thacker stated in his opening that, in effect, that the construction and operation of the IGPC pipeline did not raise the risk profile of NRG.  The question is:  Do you accept what your counsel said on your behalf?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The company letter of credit, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  With respect to the -- you are talking about the $232,000 letter of credit which has been provided to NRG?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I am referring to the $5.2 million letter of credit.

MR. O'LEARY:  You're saying as a result of being provided with the required security, there has been no change in the risk profile of NRG; correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I believe so, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Those are our questions, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny.
Cross-examination by Mr. Penny:

MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Pallett, I think most of my questions are for you, but I might think of something -- a question or two for you, too, Mr. Bristoll.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Thank you.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Pallett, the preparation of the financial statements themselves, those are the responsibility -- or that is the responsibility of management?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And as the auditor of NRG, you conduct an audit of the information contained in those financial statements?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And your responsibility as auditor is to express an opinion on the financial statements.

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And you conduct your NRG audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And your audit included assessing the accounting principles used in the preparation of NRG's financial statements?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And also evaluating the overall financial state presentation -- financial statement presentation?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And you applied your best skill and knowledge in the preparation of these financial statements?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  You took care in your audit?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And your opinion was drafted with care and careful thought?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  When you conduct your audit of NRG, you are conducting that audit for the purpose of expressing your opinion, that we referred to a minute ago, on whether the financial statements fairly present the financial position of the company; correct?

MR. PALLETT:  Based on GAAP, correct.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  You are not conducting your audit for the purpose of determining NRG's creditworthiness relative to a creditor of NRG's?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  I think you indicated a moment ago your training as an auditor is different.  Your training is not as an assessor of creditworthiness?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  Neither, for example -- well...

Now, at page 15 of your evidence, sir -- paragraph 15, excuse me, page 4, paragraph 15, you say that certain qualifying companies under GAAP were allowed to continue to disclose retractable shares as equity in spite of being redeemable?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And in your 2005 audit, if you could turn that up, I think it is...

Oh, I'm sorry.  We've produced -- Union produced that.  Do you have that?

MR. PALLETT:  I have 2005, yes.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  I think I am referring to page 7 in the notes, and under the heading "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" under heading A, "Share Capital", it says:

"The company has elected to apply the differential reporting measurement option allowed for the accounting for retractable shares and therefore has presented as equity instead of disclosing as a liability the issued and outstanding class A and class C shares of the company." 

Correct?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And in 2006, your opinion on the differential reporting option for retractable shares available to NRG determined that NRG did not qualify for the use of that option?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And Mr. Kaiser asked this morning, in my opening, whether that was the result of a change in GAAP or whether that -- and I -- well, let me ask you that, first of all.

MR. PALLETT:  The change in GAAP actually occurred a couple of years before that.  It was an application of rate-regulated entities that we were wrestling with, whether this applied or didn't apply.

MR. PENNY:  So this was a change in 2006 that was occasioned by your opinion?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  And if we look at that opinion on page 1, the auditor's report for 2006, which is Exhibit 1 to Union's evidence -- do you have that?

MR. PALLETT:  Sorry, 2006?

MR. PENNY:  I'm talking 2006.

MR. PALLETT:  Yes.  Audited financials, yes.

MR. PENNY:  First page, which is -- that's your auditor's report?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  In the third full paragraph, you say:

"The company has issued and outstanding class C shares with a redemption value of $13.4 million.  Canadian generally accepted accounting principles require that the company present any classified shares that are retractable at the option of the shareholder as a liability on the balance sheet.  The company has presented these shares as part of shareholders' equity.  If the shares were classified as liabilities, then the total liabilities would increase by $13.4 million and share capital would decrease by $13.4 million."

That's what you wrote?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  That was your opinion?

MR. PALLETT:  That's correct.

MR. PENNY:  And you go on to say -- I suppose state your opinion that, in your opinion:

"Except that the class C shares of the company have been presented as part of shareholders' equity rather than as a liability, these financial statements fairly present in all material respects the financial position of the company as at September 30, 2006."

Right?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct, understanding that we're reporting based on GAAP.

MR. PENNY:  And that was -- you are not changing that opinion now?

MR. PALLETT:  No.

MR. PENNY:  Your evidence isn't an attempt to change that opinion?

MR. PALLETT:  No.

MR. PENNY:  Would you look at -- if you would flip the page, to page 3 of that report, sir, you indicate in your audit report that the proper -- the GAAP presentation of shareholders' equity would be as a liability.

I take it that means you would move 13.461418 million up into the liabilities category?

MR. PALLETT:  Not quite.  You would only move up those portions related to the class C shares, the retractable shares which is almost all of that.

MR. PENNY:  Right.  Fair enough.  Almost all of it.

MR. PALLETT:  Hm-hmm.

MR. PENNY:  So that would generate liabilities somewhere in excess of two and a half -- 21.5 million.

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  And then in your evidence at page 5, paragraph 16, sir, you make reference to the bank loan documentation, the postponement agreement.  Do you see that?

MR. PALLETT:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  And you quote the postponement agreement and if we look under sub A, it says:

"...to postpone the payment in satisfaction by the borrower of all shareholder loans dividends and other rights to withdraw capital..."


And you will see, if you drop down, it says:  
"...In favour of the bank."


Right?

MR. PALLETT:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  And it goes on to say an to subordinate --

"the subordinated obligations to all indebtedness liabilities and obligations of the borrower to the bank."


MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  Correct?  So the beneficiary of this postponement obligation is the bank?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  Will you agree with me that the bank is, under this loan documentation, the bank is a creditor of NRG's?


MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. PENNY:  Will you agree with me that before it was -– well, let me put it this way, that it would appear that the bank required this covenant from the borrower as part of its willingness to loan $6.4 million to NRG?


MR. PALLETT:  I believe this was a new covenant for this year.  It wasn't part of the original loan agreement.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  Well, Mr. Bristoll, did the bank ask you for this or did NRG offer it up?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It was requested.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you.

And I take it you will agree with me that the -- this was requested because the bank did not want the shareholder taking money out of NRG before or in competition with the bank until the bank's loan was fully paid?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's what it says.

MR. PENNY:  Just give me one moment.

This is a question I think for you, Mr. Bristoll.  At page 8 of your evidence, paragraph 30, you say: 
"Furthermore, a borrower may choose to grant security even if it could obtain credit on an unsecured basis for two reasons: A, the granting of security may result in less restrictive covenants; and B, the granting of security may provide the borrower with a better rate."


You will agree with me, Mr. Bristoll, I think, that while that is theoretically possible, in this case, the bank insisted on security before it was prepared to advance you $6.5 million?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think our bank supports us in any way they can.

MR. PENNY:  Well, with respect, that is not an answer to my question.  Was this -- was the security you granted to the bank your option?  Or was that something the bank required?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think they requested it but I still believe they support us where they can.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry.  I just want to be sure I heard you right.  You said you think they requested it?


MR. BRISTOLL:  They did request it.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  If you drop down to paragraph 31, sir.  You give the example of NRG purchasing approximately $4 million of natural gas annually.  You don't run up $4 million worth of credit with shell energy or Energy Source Canada; correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We do not.

MR. PENNY:  You pay monthly?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We do.  On time.

MR. PENNY:  And if you don't pay, they don't deliver the gas; right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We have never not paid so I don't know the answer to that question.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  Well, maybe this is a legal question too, but they don't need an order of the Board not to deliver you gas if you don't pay.  Do you know that, or not?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't know that either.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

Those are all of my questions, Mr. Chairman.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything?
Cross-examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Just a couple, I think, Mr. Chair.  Again, much of what I had has already been covered.  Starting with you, Mr. Pallett, how long did you say you'd been auditor for NRG?

MR. PALLETT:  In all honesty, I would have to give you a rough approximation.  I believe it is approximately ten years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You first qualified your opinion in 2006; is that correct?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I just want to make sure I heard you correctly.  You had an exchange about this with Mr. Penny, but if I heard you correctly, you said you had been struggling with this issue for a couple of years.  Did I hear that right?

MR. PALLETT:  Yes.  We were attempting to determine whether the rate-regulated entity applied for differential reporting.  Differential reporting was -- I guess this is a bit of a long answer -- it was brought out by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants as part of the new disclosures that were brought out.  What they allowed is qualified entities to apply different sets of disclosure issues, because these are all strictly disclosure issues, how something is to be disclosed.

When these new rules were brought out, certain entities were able to continue to disclose them as they had been disclosed previously, which is the differential reporting rules.  And rate-regulated entities we determined in 2006, after further consultations, was not a qualifying entity.  So instead of having the note disclosure referenced in the auditor's report and reported in the notes to the financials, that note in the financial statements is moved directly to the auditor's report.

MR. MILLAR:  How did you --

MR. PALLETT:  It then becomes a qualified opinion.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you finished?

MR. PALLETT:  Yes.  Sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  How did you determine that a regulated utility is not eligible for this differential reporting?  Was that something you did?  Or is that something that was determined by ...

MR. PALLETT:  No.  It was our interpretation.  We had felt in prior years they had qualified.  We had actually discussed it with the ICAO, the Ontario Institute of Chartered Accountants and our outside references that we use for disclosure issues.

MR. MILLAR:  Did any of the facts actually change?  The shares didn't change in any way?

MR. PALLETT:  No, there was no change in the facts.

MR. MILLAR:  So hindsight of course being 20/20, but if you were to go back now, I take it you would have had a qualified opinion for 2004 -- since whenever these shares came into existence.

MR. PALLETT:  Correct, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

Just a couple of questions about the demand loan from the Bank of Nova Scotia.  I understand the balance for that loan is something in excess of $6 million; is that correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that it is secured essentially by all of NRG's assets?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the bank can demand repayment of that loan at any time?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, if that were to happen, let's imagine the bank demanded repayment tomorrow, I understand you don't have current assets sufficient to cover the entire $6 million; is that correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Can I ask what you would attempt to do to try to repay the loan?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We would refinance with another institution.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it you would attempt to refinance with another institution?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We would, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

Do any creditors have priority claim over the bank?  Any other creditors?

MR. BRISTOLL:  None.

MR. MILLAR:  The bank is first in line?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  As a worst-case scenario, the bank could -- let's imagine they demanded repayment and you didn't have sufficient cash.  Could they require you to sell your assets to satisfy the debt?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They could do many things, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But that is a possibility?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Possible, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Pallett, a couple of questions about the RiskCalc analysis.

Are you familiar with this program or this software?

MR. PALLETT:  No, I'm not.

MR. MILLAR:  You have never seen this before?

MR. PALLETT:  I have seen risk calculations before, but I've not --

MR. MILLAR:  But not this particular one?

MR. PALLETT:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  You can't comment whether it was done properly or improperly or anything of that nature?

MR. PALLETT:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you aware that many organizations use this program to assist them in assessing creditworthiness?

MR. PALLETT:  Yes, I am aware of it.  Again, the output is based on the input.  So depending on the nature of the input, it will have a significant impact on the output.  I was able to briefly review it earlier, so I can make a couple of comments on it.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I'm hesitant to do that, because I take it you don't commonly work with this program; is that right?  You have not done these on your own?

MR. PALLETT:  No, I do not prepare those types of statements.

MR. MILLAR:  I am going to leave it at that, then.

MR. PALLETT:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Just one moment, Mr. Chair.  I think I am finished most of my...

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, maybe we will go ahead while you are discussing --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, please do, Mr. Chair.
Questions by the Board:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Pallett, I just have two questions.  The bank loans, where there was 2 million with Imperial Life or 6 million with the Scotia, and that would have always been ahead of any claim that Union Gas had?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  And then we come to this change in accounting policy or your interpretation of it with respect to the class C redeemable shares.

Prior to this clarification, those shares would have ranked behind Union?

MR. PALLETT:  The shares themselves --

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. PALLETT:  -- would rank behind Union, yes.

MR. KAISER:  If there was a bankruptcy or some such thing, they would have ranked behind Union.  Its equity would rank behind --

MR. PALLETT:  They still do.

MR. KAISER:  They still do, or are they on the same footing as Union?

MR. PALLETT:  No, the shares would have to be retracted at the option of the holder and converted to a liability prior to them being ranked on par.

MR. KAISER:  All right, but prior -- if they were retracted -- and I take it that is what the postponement guarantees, that the bank has, that the holder of the class C share has agreed not to pull the trigger and retract them?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  If there was a postponement in favour of Union, they would continue to rank behind a Union claim?

MR. PALLETT:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  And if there was not a postponement, they would rank, what, equal to Union?

MR. PALLETT:  Only after they were actually retracted.

MR. KAISER:  Right, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I am actually done.

MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  We will take the luncheon break at this point, gentlemen, and --

MR. PENNY:  It sounds like we're probably finished with the witnesses, unless Mr. --

MR. KAISER:  Oh, I'm sorry, did you have anything?

MR. KING:  We have no re-direct.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Gentlemen, let's come back at 2 o'clock for argument.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:23 p.m. 

--- On resuming at 1:57 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Penny, before you start, you can address these in your remarks, if you wish.

We have heard from you on the two remedies that you have referred to, one of which I refer to as a one-time hit to buy the gas so you don't have to borrow it from Union.  What's the one-time cost of that?  I think you said earlier this morning you might address that.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I am not sure we know.  I mean, it would depend on the market.  I mean I'm sure that --

MR. KAISER:  If we assume today's price.

MR. PENNY:  I would need a bit of help with that.  But we know in terms of the volume, the increase for the five months remaining takes you from about 1,500 to about 2,500.  So it is an increase of about a thousand gJs a day.

So if we can -- if I can do a back-of-the-envelope on that just giving some kind of estimate.

MR. KAISER:  The additional financial security, your other alternative as you said, what is the cost of that?

MR. PENNY:  Well, Ms. Elliott can probably speak to that.  As I understand, it is typically some percentage add-on what you are paying already.  So it is often the cheaper option, actually.

MR. KAISER:  If you can address that.  While your associates are working on that, the other question, we have heard, it would appear, that the Bank of Nova Scotia, when they learned of this change in accounting rules with respect to these redeemable preferred, i.e., that they no longer ranked as equity but were treated as liabilities, insisted on and obtained a postponement.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Is your client open to that as a remedy for either of the other two reliefs?

MR. PENNY:  We are open to it as a partial remedy.  But as Ms. Elliott said this morning, there is more than just that issue that is driving the change in the credit assessment.

So to the extent that that issue would deal with the shareholder equity piece of what's driving it, that would be an acceptable option, I think, if it were structured, assuming it was all structured properly.  But the other thing you have to remember, the other main piece that is driving this is the increase in liabilities resulting from the increase from bank indebtedness which went from two to six -- I think the current liabilities go from $2 million in 2005 to $8 million in 2006, so there is a $6 million increase in liabilities.  That is also driving --

MR. KAISER:  The two notes went from 2 million to 6 million and they went, the 2 million was long-term debt and the six short-term debt.

MR. PENNY:  That is the indebtedness, yes.  But you will remember, as Mr. Tunley pointed out, there was a capital payment back to the shareholders.

So if you look at the financial statements, I stand to be corrected, but let's just deal with that now.

Yes.  If you looked at page 3 of the 2006, for example, current liabilities are, in 2006 are $8.368 million and in 2005 they were $2.68 million.  So there is actually almost a $6 million increase in current liabilities, even though the indebtedness itself only goes up by four as between the two.  So there are two pieces to it, but you are absolutely right that if it was properly structured, one aspects of the problem could be solved by some form of postponement because it would eliminate the shareholder equity/shareholder debt part of that.

MR. THACKER:  Can I address that from NRG's side to answer your question?

MR. KAISER:  Certainly, yes.

MR. THACKER:  My submission would be what it comes down to is we have now discovered these retractable shares and that presents a risk because what it boils down to is the shares could be retracted while Union is still owed money.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  NRG would be prepared to agree or to obtain the agreement of the shareholders not to retract the shares if Union Gas is owed any money, unless one of two things happens:  A, they give Union alternate security to cover any outstanding debt; or B, they change the contract date to cover the problem.

That way, the complaint that they raise before you is dealt with completely.  The credit risk they allege is eliminated, and we’re where back to where we were.

NRG would do that as a complete solution.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well you will have a chance to elaborate on that and Mr. Penny will have a chance to reply to that.  Thank you for that.  We have obviously been trying to understand the extent to which that remedy would fit into the mix either wholly or completely.

MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you.  Let me just respond to that now while it is on my mind and it is fresh in our minds.

We of course appreciate NRG's willingness to do that, but Mr. Thacker was not quite correct at the very tail end.  As I said, it doesn't completely deal with the issue.  Frankly, without running the model, I don't know how much of the issue it deals with.  What we would have to do is look at that and say, All right, if we take that piece out, then what is left?  Sitting here today, we are not in a position to say what that is.  It does clearly address one of the issues, but only one of them.

MR. KAISER:  Well, let us all bear in mind it is one of the less costly remedies.

MR. THACKER:  That was my point.


MR. KAISER:  At some point, somebody is going to pick up the cost of that security, so we are always interested in reducing the exposure to the ratepayers.  Everyone is interested in that.

MR. PENNY:  But the interesting thing here of course, Mr. Chairman, there is potential exposure on both sides to ratepayers as a result of that default.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, of course.

MR. PENNY:  I am told by Mr. Kitchen and Mr. Ripley, that, again, while this is on my mind, that if you -- that the cost using $8 a gJ, which I gather is roughly what the current price is, we're talking about 151 days, a thousand gJs extra.  That translates into about a million two just in rough numbers.

Of course just remembering that NRG's actually collecting -- in the ordinary course, collects this money on an ongoing basis from its customers because they pay as they consume, and they’re borrowing gas from Union so they're actually getting this money from the consumers, but that is our back-of-the-envelope calculation of the order of magnitude of that number.

All right.  Let me then just sort of go back to the beginning here.
Closing Argument by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  As I said in the opening, Mr. Chairman, it is clear from the evidence that the real source of the problem here is that under NRG's old transportation contract, its obligated deliveries were such that it develops a significant negative banked gas account over the winter so that by the end March, it owes Union what is currently forecast to be about $1.8 million.

The old contract year end was September 30.  That meant that NRG had to balance to zero in its banked gas account by the end of September and this allowed NRG to borrow gas from Union in the winter and repay it over the course of the summer.

The contract expired on September 30.  A considerable period of time before that, Union had analyzed the 2006 audited financial statements, performed a credit assessment based on that information, and concluded it was not prepared to expose itself it to that level of credit risk given the changed circumstances.

In the circumstances then, Union proposed that NRG move to an April 1 contract year, which NRG would be obliged -- under which NRG would be obliged to balance to zero on March 31 instead of September 30.  Under an amended contract year end, NRG would no longer borrow gas but would build up before the winter sufficient gas to meet the customers’ needs and avoid a negative banked gas account.  The only material impact on NRG of this change, of course, as we just alluded to, is this one-time transition to get to the zero balance on March 31.  NRG has to increase its gas deliveries to match with consumption by that date and that's the point that we just outlined.

Of course, as you know, and as you have heard, NRG rejected that proposal through a letter from its lawyers on September 5 and that rejection was on the basis that Union had no reasonable grounds for seeking those changes to the conditions of the contract.

Mr. Chairman, there is, as far as I am aware, no legal or regulatory principle that says Union must loan gas to direct purchasers during the winter in the ordinary course of business.  Union, in fact, has contracts, as you’ve heard, that renew in all months of the year and in fact those customers with credit issues are often on an April 1 start date for precisely the reason that we have heard.

The evidence in my submission is clear, there is no discriminatory treatment here.  So it is not -- this is not a fairness or an access issue.  Union has subjected NRG to exactly the same kind of risk and usage analysis as it does any other major commercial and industrial bundled transportation customer, and it’s significant, in my submission, that in the NRG position and in its evidence, there is no evidence of inability to do this.  This is not a hardship case.

They don't say that they can't do it, they just say they don't want to do it.

The bottom line, in my submission, is Union is unwilling to take on the 1.8 million in commodity-related risk to NRG where the total annual distribution revenue Union gets from that customer is only about a third of that.

And that, in and of itself, in my submission, given the contract expiry, is in itself reasonable grounds for amending -- seeking to amend the terms and conditions of NRG's contract so as to avoid that large negative balance at the end of the winter.  But as you have heard, that is not all.  Union has additional reasons to be concerned about its credit exposure to NRG, and, therefore, additional reasons to be concerned about the size of that negative banked gas account.

As you have heard, Union discovered in 2007 that NRG's 2006 audited financial statements were subject to a qualified audit opinion, and that qualification, as you've heard, is in the auditor's report and has to do with the presentation of shareholders' equity.  

The auditor's opinion is that to present the financial position of NRG fairly, the 13 million of shareholder equity must be shown as a liability.  And the reason?  Because it is in the form of retractable shares redeemable at the option of the shareholder.

This change has the effect of increasing NRG's liabilities by 13 million and produces a negative shareholder equity of 9 million.  As you have heard, negative shareholder equity downgrades NRG's credit rating.  There can be no argument about that, it seems to me, and it is only consistent with common sense.  The retractable nature of these shares also means that once the preconditions for redemption are met -- and you, Mr. Chairman, had an interchange -- an exchange with the auditor about this.  

Once those conditions for redemption are met, which in this circumstance is exercising the retraction right and of course satisfying the bank, the shareholder -- the shareholders become creditors of NRG, just like Union competing for potentially scarce resources behind the bank's security blanket.

In addition, Union discovered, upon reviewing the 2006 audited financial statements, that NRG had undertaken a financing with the Bank of Nova Scotia under which, in exchange for a roughly $6.5 million demand loan, the bank took security over all of NRG's property assets and undertaking.  

This has two results.  First, Union is an unsecured creditor behind that 6.4 million of current liabilities, and, as we discussed a few moments ago, it is true, of course, that there was a security agreement in place before with Imperial Life, I believe it was, but that was in respect of long-term debt, so not currently payable.  

The current service costs of that were in the hundreds of thousands of dollars, as the evidence shows, not millions, and the number was a good deal smaller.  It was in the order of two-plus-something million, two-and-a-half million, roughly, as opposed to the 6.4.  As we discussed again a moment ago, the current liabilities of NRG are roughly 8 million now, in recent years, and current assets are only about 2 million.

So there is a five-and-a-half to $6 million gap, if you will, there which did not exist before.  There was only about a $1 million gap before.

In the event of a default under the bank's loan documentation, any debt owing to Union ranks behind the bank, including any cash that NRG has collected from its customers on account of their consumption of gas, and, I emphasize again, gas which NRG has borrowed from Union.

Second, the audited financial statements showed the current assets, as I have said, because of the bank's secured loan are far less than NRG's current liabilities by a factor of some 300 percent. 

That, of course, means that NRG's current assets are insufficient to satisfy even the bank loan, much less an additional 1.8 million owed to Union at the end of -- as it accumulates by the end of March.

So in light of these facts, Union took the view - and, in my submission, reasonably took the view - that it would not be prudent for it to continue to incur this level of credit exposure to NRG without further financial assurances.

Now, if we focus on the contract piece just for a moment, implementation of the bundled T service solution is a two-step process, because in this, the first year of the change, the new conditions of service are being implemented midterm, not at the end of the term.

So as we have discussed, there has to be an increase in deliveries to get to the zero balance.

After the transition to a March 31 year end balance, however, NRG will be on track for subsequent years using the new contract period with no material change to NRG's existing DCQ.

The only reason I emphasize that, Mr. Chairman, is while it is a one-time hit -- it is only a one-time hit, it is not an ongoing obligation, and that, in my submission, is significant in the sense the financial security on the other hand, assuming their usage pattern remains roughly the same, with perhaps some modest growth over time, that that is an ongoing obligation which they would have to incur the cost of every year; whereas moving to the March 31 end of year balancing scenario is only a one-time exercise.

I have already discussed the transition.

So on this contract front, Union's submission is that it is not only reasonable for Union to seek to reduce its credit exposure from this commodity-related debt, but that it would have been imprudent for it not to do so were Union therefore seeking on this one remedy an order of the Board imposing as conditions of continued bundled transportation service to NRG the April 1 contract renewal date and the adjustments necessary to NRG's DCQ to achieve a zero balance as of March 31, 2009, as outlined in the evidence.

Now, on the alternative remedy of financial assurances, Union submits that it had reasonable grounds to believe that NRG's creditworthiness had become unsatisfactory and that the amount of the financial assurances requested was determined in a commercially reasonable manner.  

You will recall section 5.04 of the contract has two provisions:  One, that Union has to reasonably come to the conclusion - "reasonably believe" is the words - that NRG's creditworthiness is unsatisfactory; and, secondly, that the amount of the financial assurances sought were determined in a commercially reasonable manner.

Now, a threshold issue might, I suppose, arise as to whether the terms and conditions, these general terms and conditions of the bundled T contract, govern Union's rights to seek security, and, in my submission, while the -- in the ultimate sense the Board is not bound by the terms of any contract, given its jurisdiction under section 36, the evidence of a contract, which has been entered into freely, is prima facie evidence that the terms and conditions are reasonable.

In 2004, about the time of Union's 2004 rate case, there was in fact a consultation with Union's bundled T customers about the general terms and conditions, and these general terms and conditions were endorsed by the contract customers as a whole.

Now, I do not know whether NRG actively participated in that consultation or not, but they certainly had notice of it and could have participated.  But more to the point, NRG in this case signed this contract, and there has been no suggestion and no evidence that they were forced to do so by the exercise of monopoly power.  They didn't come to the Board and say, Union is abusing its monopoly power by forcing us to sign something that is unreasonable or unfair.  They signed the contract.

And that is the best evidence, in my submission, that its provisions are reasonable.

But even if you looked at objectively at the provisions, they are not unreasonable just as provisions, and I don't understand, frankly -- actually, I don't understand my friends necessarily to be quarrelling with this, but you will recall -- again, I don't think we need to look at them again, but it says that Union must reasonably determine that the creditworthiness has become unsatisfactory, and Union must determine in a commercially reasonable manner what the financial assurances should be.

And that, in my submission, is very consistent with just and reasonable rates under section 36.  It would prohibit Union, for example, for arbitrary reasons, from simply coming up with a $10 million number and saying it has to be 10 million.  It has to be reasonable.

And what is reasonable, of course, is up for the parties initially to try and negotiate, and I suppose ultimately for the Board to determine.  But, in our submission, it cannot be said, and the evidence supports the conclusion that Union was at the very least acting reasonably in coming to the conclusion that the financial creditworthiness of NRG had changed materially, and it isn't just, you will remember, a question of Union's subjective judgment.

There is a third party Moody's designed model which Union uses and applies to all of the customers, and it is that model which actually generated the change in credit rating based on the input.

As Mr. Pallett was pointing out, that he’s aware that these models, that these type of commercial products are used frequently; and of course it does depend on what you put in, but Union has given its evidence on what it put in.  And it put in principally the two issues that we have discussed, the additional liabilities resulting from the shareholder equity issue, and the additional liabilities resulting from the bank financing which increased their loan by some $4 million.

As to what -- as to the question of the amount, what amount of financial assurances must be reasonable, that's dealt with in the contract.  Because you will recall that section 5.04(c) says:
"The financial assurances requested by Union will not exceed the sum of the following..."

And the relevant provision is:
"...if the customer supplies their own gas, an amount equivalent to the value as determined by Union of any current projected negative banked gas account balance."


And as you have heard from Ms. Elliott, Union's, in fact, seeking considerably less than the full amount of that amount.  So we are well within the reasonableness provisions, if I can put it that way, that were expressly contemplated by the contract at the time it was entered into.

I won't go over the specific reasons for the reasonable grounds again, other than just to highlight them.

In our submission, the evidence is overwhelming that the 2006 brought about at least two material events that reasonably gave Union cause for concern.  The qualified audit opinion, which makes it clear that the retractable shares are not properly regarded as equity because they can be redeemed at the option of the shareholder and are properly regarded debt when presenting the -- fairly, the financial position of the company, I cross-examined Mr. Pallett about this and notwithstanding some softness around the edges in his evidence, was very clear in cross-examination he was not changing his opinion.


His opinion was correct.  He is not saying it is wrong.  And his opinion was that in order to fairly present the financial position of this company, that shareholder equity had to be rated as debt, not equity.

Of course as I said, it also means shareholders have the potential to become creditors by exercising their retraction rights and potentially rank pari passu with Union as unsecured creditors.

The second thing, of course, was the $6 million bank financing.  I won't go over that again.


It is clear beyond peradventure, in my submission, that these are events that support a reasonable belief that NRG's creditworthiness had become unsatisfactory in respect of a $1.8 million commodity-related debt.

As I have said, it isn't just Union's subjective judgment.  It inputted those changes into its Moody's program, and that generated a downgrading from triple B to single B, as you heard.

As to the amount, as I have said, we are well within the maximum that was provided for in the contract.

Now, Mr. Bristoll testified, page 8, paragraph 29 of the prefiled evidence which he adopted, that, he said: 
"Lenders will not grant credit to a borrower if they do not believe the borrower is creditworthy (regardless of what security is granted)."


Well, Mr. Chairman, we agree with that.  That's what brings us here.  So Mr. Bristoll has agreed with the central proposition that brings us before the Board.  Lenders will not grant credit to a borrower if they do not believe the borrower is creditworthy.

There have been changes which reasonably caused Union to come to that belief.

Now, I was going to address the issue, Mr. Kaiser, of the postponement but I think we have dealt with that already.  Our position is that that would go some way, but not all the way, to solving the problem.

At this point in time, without doing -- running all the math and the numbers, we don't know how far it would go.

Mr. Chairman, just on your second question, I did say we would get back to you with Ms. Elliott's view on this. Again, this is back of the envelope, high level, but what I am told is that the standby fee for a letter of credit is typically expressed as a percent.  We don't know the standby fee that NRG could get in the market.  That depends of course on NRG's credit rating as assessed by its lenders.

However, if we assumed a credit requirement of approximately $1.3 million, which is what Union is seeking and a standby fee of 100 basis points, just to give you an order of magnitude, that would cost approximately $13,000 annually and of course if it was 200 basis points, that would be $26,000 annually.

So in conclusion, Mr. Chairman, just going through the issues list.  Does Union have reasonable grounds to believe that NRG's creditworthiness under the prior contract has become unsatisfactory?  We say, yes.

Was the amount of financial assurances requested by Union determined in a commercially reasonable manner?  We say, yes.

Can the need for financial assurances be avoided by restructuring the bundled-T contract?  We say, yes.

Should the Board issue an order imposing conditions of service which restructure the contract or alternatively should the Board issue an order requiring NRG as a condition of Union's continued service to provide the financial assurances Union has requested?  We say, yes.

What are the rate impacts?  Well, you have indicated that is really not before us.

In any event, the rate impacts, even if you accept the double hearsay type of unproven evidence that we got through NRG today, it is actually quite modest.

Whether there are other alternatives?  Well, you have heard -- the only alternative that I have heard coming out of the evidence of course is this issue about the postponement of retraction rights which we have already discussed.

I think those are my submissions in-chief.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, under 5.04(c) --

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER: -- this is where if a customer supplies their own gas, an amount equivalent to the value -- this of course is the: 
"Financial assurances requested by Union will not exceed the following:  C, if a customer supplies their own gas in an amount equivalent to the value as determined by Union of any current or projected negative banked gas account balance."


I think I heard you say the maximum that could be was 1.8?

MR. PENNY:  What I said was that the -- that's essentially right.  Let me just say it slightly differently.

You tend to reach the maximum negative at the end of March --


MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  -- on this September renewal date.  So come the end of March, it is usually the biggest at that point in time, and then what happens is it starts getting smaller because their deliveries start exceeding consumption.  Then, eventually somewhere in, you know, July, August, September, somewhere like that, it, all of that negative is drawn down and it comes back into balance.

The 1.8 million is simply using the, today's gas prices, if you will.  So that number can change.  That is really my only point, but it is currently forecast to be 1.8 million.

MR. KAISER:  I take it from what you have just said if we would were put a number to C, as it is currently written in your contract, that would be about 1.8 million?

MR. PENNY:  That's the maximum, yes.  My point is simply we're seeking less.

MR. KAISER:  You are seeking $600,000 less?

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  So that gets us to --

MR. PENNY:  There is actually a slight subtlety of that, sorry to be not -- there is a slight subtlety to that.  Union's maximum gas exposure is 1.8.  Their maximum exposure as a result of delivery service as well is factored in on March 31 is 1.9.

Union is saying we will give $600,000 credit, that takes you down to 1.3.  So that’s how we get to the 1.3.  There is a $100,000 swing there, which is simply the difference between the total maximum exposure and the maximum exposure to the banked gas account.

Under either scenario, it is only a $100,000.  So we're clearly under that maximum.  We are asking for 1.3 and the maximum is 1.8, so we're 500,000 under the maximum. MR. KAISER:  Is it basically 1.3 million worth of gas or letter of credit for 1.3?

MR. PENNY:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Tunley, do you have anything?

Closing Argument by Mr. Tunley:


MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  Briefly, I want to sort of stay true to not having a real position on the contract dispute.

So on the first issue:  Should Union be given security?  Really, all I have to say is just to put this in context and ask the Board to put it in context.

As we have looked at the financial statements that have been produced in these proceedings, at the line indicating the security deposits, they're shown as a liability in the financial statements at page 3.  For the various years we're dealing with, 2005 they started at $105,000, 2006 they almost tripled to $280,081,000, and 2007 they almost doubled again to $602,860.

All I will say on this issue is, really, Union is asking for priority for a portion of its contract debt over those customer deposits and other unsecured debts of NRG.

You should consider, in my submission, the basis on which they seek that.  And as I understand Mr. Penny - and it is fair - his claim is based on a contract.  There is a contract which gives his client the right to demand security in certain circumstances, and he's here asking for security because this Board regulates that contract, Union and NRG, and has qualified the right to sort of just turn off the tap, and Mr. Penny's client is seeking some offset in those circumstances, as I understand the case that is being made from a kind of overall policy perspective, and that is what Mr. Penny says should give Union some right to priority over other unsecured creditors, including customers.

All I say about that is you have to consider that.  Is this shifting really a risk from Union's ratepayers to NRG's ratepayers, and is this really an appropriate shift to be made?  And that's the context in which I would ask the Board to kind of weigh the arguments on both sides of that issue.  I don't have a position on it, but that is my submission as to how to weigh the arguments.

On the second issue, and really this responds to something in NRG's energy rather than anything in Mr. Penny's arguments to you so far, the position as I understand it, from NRG, in response to Mr. Penny is, Well, really on the facts nothing has changed since 2005, 2006, when this Board last considered issues relating to NRG's finances in the context of a rate hearing.

In my submission, that just is not so on the evidence you heard, and I just want to respond to that, as well, but, first, the reason it is not so.

This Board did not have the 2006 NRG financial statements, nor presumably did it have the evidence of Mr. Pallett, NRG's auditors, about the proper financial presentation of retractable shares.  I am going to hazard the position that if this Board, in the context of a rate hearing, had heard that evidence, it might have done things differently.  

The implication, as I understand it, first of all, this is a judgment of the Ontario and Canadian chartered accountant institutes, as I understand it.  This isn't a lobby by one particular group.  This is our accounting standards bodies in this jurisdiction telling the users of financial statements about a change in the way that financial information should be presented.  

I am venturing this Board today is confronted with that issue for the first time.  I don't know whether there have been prior hearings where it has come up.

But the policy implication for the Board is serious, and that is the implication is if that evidence is right and if the chartered accountant bodies who are behind it are correct, is that retractable shares do not equal equity and shouldn't be treated as equity in a regulated utility.  And that's, I believe, a new proposition that this Board will have heard for the first time in this hearing from, I point out, the auditors for NRG, not from Mr. Penny.

So, again, what I want to focus on, this has implications beyond this hearing for Aylmer and the ratepayer customer groups that it is here really to represent.

Clearly, currently, the rates that are already higher than in Union do reflect a return on equity for that $13 million, and maybe they shouldn't.  And it is built right into the rates that the customers are paying today, and really that not only wasn't before the Board in 2006 -- and I need to respond to that position as NRG has put it forward -- it was not before the Board in 2006, but it is clearly going to be a significant issue in the future.

The second, similarly, not before this Board - probably more importantly for the purposes of the case - in 2006 this Board did not -- when it considered rates, did not have before it the 2006 refinancing by the Bank of Nova Scotia.  It was not part of the 2006 rate case, as I understand it, and it's not been blessed by the Board in any sense.

On the evidence you have heard, that transaction, the refinancing, has raised several concerns for Union as a significant unsecured creditor.

As I understand it, simply, the concerns are:  One, the amount of secured debt has gone up from approximately $2.3 million to approximately $4.5 million, and that's a significant change.

Secondly, the term has changed.  The $2.3 million debt in 2005 was, as I understand it, a long-term debt that would run for several years and, absent default, the new debt is essentially a demand loan.  It can essentially be called at any time.

If, for example, rates for loans increase, the bank may want to call that loan in order to renegotiate and impose a new -- a better loan arrangement for itself.  

But the third concern is that at least 2 million of that new funds appears to have been used to repay shareholder equity at the time, in the same year that the loan was taken out.

I put that in the context of the concern, which Mr. Millar put in his cross-examination as a hypothetical.  If the Bank of Nova Scotia were to call this loan today, presumably retraction by the shareholder would follow, and all of those debts would take priority over the assets of this company and the other shareholders, including the ratepayers and Union, would be exposed.

So that wasn't before the Board in 2006 in the rate case that -- the most recent rate case and, in my submission, should be considered by this Board today.

So the question is:  Do any of these issues give rise to a need for additional security?  That's the issue you've got to consider.

The position -- the only position that I want to articulate in closing is that if that's the case that's before you, if any of those circumstances do justify additional security, my submission is none of them, none of them, are attributable to the ratepayers in this area.

They're all based on the financing transactions, loan transactions, shareholder changes and accounting changes that are things that this Board should be taking into consideration in its public interest mandate to look out for the interests of shareholders.  And, in my submission, that's how you should approach the issue.

Do I have a preference as to how to structure this if security is required?  My answer is no.  I want to urge you to find the solution that has the least impact on any ratepayers, whether they are the Town of Aylmer and surrounding communities in NRG's area, or whether they are the Union ratepayers.

Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary.
Closing Argument by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  On behalf of IGPC, we have two very brief submissions, sir.

The uncontroverted evidence here today that you heard in the written filing is that the relief sought by Union Gas is not dependent upon or does not arise because of the gas volumes received by the ethanol plant here and IGPC.  We have also heard and understand from the evidence, which again is uncontradicted, that the creditworthiness of NRG has not been negatively affected by the construction and operation of the IGPC pipeline.

Accordingly, based upon cost causality principles, it is our respectful submission that there should be no consideration given to any of the costs which might flow from any decision you make today, being attributed to IGPC.

As a result of this, IGPC therefore takes no position in respect of Union Gas' relief sought today, and asks the Board to rule accordingly.

In terms of the second submission, it's simply this, that there were some materials filed by my friend that spoke to the continuing disputes that linger between NRG and IGPC.  Certainly on IGPC's part, we will do everything that is reasonable to try and resolve those without involving the Board once again.  We held our tongue today and did not raise those matters, as requested by yourself, sir.  But at some point, we may again need your assistance and we'll be before you in respect of those issues but that day is not today.

Those are our submissions, sir. 

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Nothing from me, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, any reply?

MR. KING:  Can I go?

MR. PENNY:  I think we have to hear from NRG.
Closing Argument by Mr. King:


MR. KING:  I will be brief, sir.

I first want to address the comments by Mr. Tunley, because they are -- much of it is just completely inaccurate, particularly everything he said about the last rate case.

In the rate last case, just for curiosity, the decision was issued in September 2006.  It was a 2007 test year case, and you were the two sitting panel members at the time.

It was at that time that the Bank of Nova Scotia loan was considered ad nauseum, as was the $2 million payment to the shareholder, because as you will recall -- I can't remember the precise figures, but the shareholder had not taken a dividend or any money out of the company in about 14 years and the actual equity slice of the capital structure had creeped up, I believe, to around 70 percent.

We had a very -- about half of the proceeding dealt with that particular issue and one of your findings on page 25 it talked about the new equity ratio we were asking the Board to grant us, and it says, and I am reading from your Board findings: 
"The evidence shows that the actual equity ratio is 41.5 percent.  This is the ratio that results after the Bank of Nova Scotia financing and the payment of $2.038 million to the shareholder."


So that was clearly before you at the time.

To address the substance of the contractual dispute before us.  We take no issue with the reasonableness of the contract Mr. Penny was speaking about.  In fact, we are relying on the contract.

Our position relates to whether they have reasonable grounds to believe that NRG's creditworthiness under that contract has become unsatisfactory.  "Has become" would suggest, to me anyways, that there would have had to have been a material change in circumstances.  Indeed, as originally drafted, Union's application and evidence hinge a lot on the year 2006 because in 2006, they say two things happened.

There was a qualified auditor's report and there was a pledge of all of NRG's assets under the demand loan to the Bank of Nova Scotia, and I will submit to you that absolutely nothing changed in 2006 with respect to the two issues that Union claims has made NRG less creditworthy.

With respect to the pledge of assets of the company, I can dismiss with that fairly easily.  NRG's assets, as we have seen in evidence, have been pledged since 1994.  You have the general security agreement before you in evidence.  You have the financial statements prior to 2006, specifically stating that all of the assets were pledged and, in fact, I can tell you that that fact was explicitly disclosed in every financial statement since 1994.

There is nothing unusual about general security agreement, any company of this size, I expect, would have a general security agreement with respect to any financing they have.

The real issue, it seems to me, that we've learned about today is that they have finally figured out how to read a financial statement and it seems to me they have zeroed in on the retractable share issue as the chief, if not only concern.

Again, the evidence here is clear.  The retractable shares have been in existence since 2003.  And how they have been treated for accounting purposes has been fully transparent since at least 2004.

What has been added to the mix that wasn't in the mix before Union filed its application and evidence is that the fact of the matter is the shares aren't retractable.

NRG cannot retract the shares as long as the Bank of Nova Scotia loan is in place, and the Bank of Nova Scotia loan isn't going anywhere any time soon.  Union will have the ability every year and every rate case to check in and see how the financial statements appear.

So the money can't be pulled out of the company, period.  The most appropriate treatment for that, I will submit to you, is as equity and to have that inputted into the model as equity.

Now, on the specifics of the model itself, I would suggest to you that its utility is marginal at best.

We have -- Union has provided no evidence as to how the model worked prior to 2005, how the inputs really got inputted.  The only thing we know is that they have lumped NRG in with an industrial sector that is extremely broad, much broader than rate-regulated utilities.   And that they apply this model to all of their customers.  We know there are only three distribution customers of Union, only one of those three is rate-regulated, that is NRG.

It is no secret, I think everyone would accept that as a rate-regulated utility we do have a lower risk profile than most other companies.

Keep in mind that NRG and Union entered into this contract in, I forget what the evidence says, 2004/2005.  Union entered into this contract on the specific terms that they did with full knowledge of the retractable nature of the shares and with full knowledge that all of NRG's assets were pledged.  They made that contractual bargain and nothing has changed since.  The facts have not changed.

There has been -- there is and there is no evidence adduced here that there has been any history of a payment problem, because there hasn't been.

The final point I just want to raise is the point about the appropriate remedy here, and this speaks to the discussion that you had with Mr. Thacker just a couple of minutes ago.

Union has just a few moments ago tried to cobble together some numbers around what the standby fee might mean.  What we offer you is real evidence on this point.

And the real evidence is at page 19 and 20 of the evidence of NRG.  We have had our rate consultant run through the two scenarios and the two scenarios being:   NRG being required to post financial assurance in the $1.3 million range, and the second scenario being NRG having to move its contract date to April 1st.

Any change from the status quo.  So the movement to either of those two options has rate impacts.  Period.

What our rate consultant has deemed and what we put in our evidence is that the rate impacts are roughly the same for either option.  They're ballpark figures because we don't know what interest rate you would get on a loan that would back up financial assurance.  But the rate impacts are in here and it is at paragraph 70 of NRG's evidence, and it is about $8 per year for residential customer, $35 per year for a small commercial customer, all the way up to $656 for a large commercial grain drier.



We also ran a number for one of our larger customers, that is the high school, one of our larger R3 customers.  The impact of moving to either a financial assurance option or a new contract date option is it will cost the high school approximately $1,100 per year, additionally.  So that is the cost of moving from the status quo.

The only option that doesn't result in rate impacts to NRG's customers is the postponement option, and I would suggest to you for all of the reasons that Mr. Thacker set out, it is a full answer to the concern about the retractable shares.  It is in the best interests of all parties involved.  And, again, we would be open to that type of arrangement.
Closing Argument by Mr. Thacker:


MR. THACKER:  I have only two points.  Number one, this hearing is about the creditworthiness of NRG and specifically any change in the creditworthiness.

The evidence is that NRG has been around for 30 years.  The evidence before you is that NRG has never missed a payment, not one missed payment in 30 years, and they had a chance to say something to the contrary.  You didn't hear it.  That is the evidence.  They have never been late.

Secondly -- so my submission is that is the strongest evidence that there are no grounds to doubt the creditworthiness or any change in it.

Secondly, Mr. O'Leary made comments about the evidence of IGPC and the town.  My submission is the town and IGPC did not choose to remain silent.  We dealt with this issue as a preliminary matter, and it was determined by this Panel -- and I will have submissions to say about costs with respect to the manner in which this evidence was produced by them, thrown up and caused NRG to have to respond when it was obviously collateral.

Those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. King, just two questions.

You have said, if I understood you, that when your client and Union entered into the contract that we're dealing with today, and particularly section 5.04, they knew about the Scotia loan; is that right?  What was the date of the Scotia loan and what was the date that this contract was signed?

MR. KING:  No.  They knew about the -- they knew that NRG's assets were fully pledged under a general security agreement and they knew that the shares were retractable, and it would have showed up in the notes to the financial statements at the time they signed the contract.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  That helps me.

The other question is you have said in your submissions that the fact that your client has given a postponement to the bank, to Scotia, means these shares cannot be retracted and they're not redeemable.

Is it the case that if you give a postponement to the bank, you, in effect, are giving a postponement to Union, or not?

MR. KING:  I think it is an ancillary benefit.  It is like being put under house arrest twice.  You can only be put under house arrest once.

The fact is that we are constrained to do certain things with our retractable shares by virtue of the existence of the Bank of Nova Scotia loan.  Adding an additional postponement agreement I don't think gets Mr. Penny and his client much more.

MS. SPOEL:  What would happen, Mr. King, if the Bank of Nova Scotia called their loan?  It's a demand loan so they could do that; not that there is any indication they will, but if they did, they called the loan, then of course there is nothing that could be done about the shares.  But let's say NRG was able to liquidate some assets to pay it, was able to refinance, who knows.  They came up with the money somehow to pay out the bank.

Then the minute that happened, they could then presumably retract the shares before paying the other creditors.  That's a scenario that could happen?

MR. KING:  That's correct, that's correct.

MR. THACKER:  And --

MS. SPOEL:  I'm not suggesting it would.

MR. KAISER:  So regardless of the legal niceties and whatever change you have to make, whatever legal instruments, as I hear you, you are prepared to make these shares non-redeemable?

MR. THACKER:  We're prepared to agree not to retract or redeem them, if there is any debt owing to Union, unless we otherwise make Union whole by way of security or changing the date.

MR. KAISER:  At least insofar as it applies to Union?

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  And no one else has complained about this, by the way, yet.

MR. KAISER:  Where are we?  Mr. Millar, you had nothing?

Mr. Penny?

MR. PENNY:  With the wonders of modern technology and specifically Blackberries, again, not to give evidence, and this is very high-level only order of magnitude, we did get -- back at the ranch, they did a very quick run, so you can't hold me to this.  This is just order of magnitude, directional sort of information.  

They did a quick look at the model and, with the shareholder equity piece taken out, it changes the financial assurances sought from 1.3 million to $900,000, another $400,000.  That is purely order of magnitude.

I did want to respond to just two or three things you heard.  I think most of what you have heard I have already addressed in my argument in-chief.

Mr. King has made the point, I think, that -- and essentially repeating what the auditors said, which is that the fact that the shares were retractable has been transparent since 2004.  But that, in my submission, misses the point.

As Mr. Pallett himself said this morning, he thought that the differential reporting was available between 2004 and 2005, or 2003 to 2005.  And according to him, NRG was entitled to report the shares as equity.

What happened was that they changed their view of that, and in 2006 they came to a different conclusion.  They came to the conclusion that the fair presentation of the financial statements did require changing that presentation and required the presentation that showed it as a liability.

So to say that Union should have figured it all out, in my submission, is perhaps asking a little bit too much, when their own auditors felt that it was properly treated as equity.

Maybe on this issue of who made the mistake, maybe it was NRG's auditors that made the mistake.  But whatever way you look at it, the material change takes place in 2006 when the auditor says the fair presentation of the financial position of NRG shows those shares as debt, not equity.

Again, Mr. King's submissions on the pledging of the assets is effectively an attack on a straw man.  The issue isn't the pledging of the assets by itself.  It is what was involved with that.  How much is that pledge back-stopping?  And as we have heard, the original pledge was for not a demand loan, but a long-term loan.  So it wasn't due and payable in a given year.  Only a small -- the carrying cost of it was, and the principal and interest payable in that year.  And -- whereas what we're dealing with now is a demand loan and what we were dealing with before was 2 million, and what we're dealing with now is of course six.

So, in my submission, his submissions on this are simply not responsive to the issue that is before you.

The third and I think final -- no, I have two more points.  My third point is, on this, both Mr. King and Mr. Thacker repeated the assertion that there is no evidence of a payment problem.  That is of course correct.  No one has ever suggested otherwise, but, as you heard this morning, it is one of many factors and, in fact, in this case worked in their favour.  There wouldn't be $600,000 of credit available if there was a problem with payment.

Of course one of the reasons it is one of many factors is because, looking backward, as we found, to everyone in the world's great chagrin in the last few months, looking backward doesn't necessarily tell you very much about the future.  

So the mere fact that they have made payments in the past, if they have become, in accordance with proper credit analysis, a riskier proposition, looking backward isn't that much help.

The final point I wanted to make was to -- just to, in essence, pick up on something that, Ms. Spoel, you were focussing on, which is that the postponement issue, it seems to me, is clearly -- the agreement we were talking about is clearly a postponement in favour of the bank.

It has no effect on Union whatsoever, except in the collateral sense, that as long as the bank is around with its loan, then they can't retract the shares, but it is a demand loan.  It could be called tomorrow, as you, Ms. Spoel, pointed out.  Things change.  And so it seems to me that protection is not really relevant to the discussion, because it is protection available to the bank, which is the holder of the demand loan.

So those are all of my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  Anything further, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  No, sir.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, gentlemen.  We will reserve on this.  You will have our decision shortly.

MR. THACKER:  Thank you.

MR. KING:  Thank you, sir.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 2:57 p.m.
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